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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH ENTERPRISE
MARKET (“GEM”) OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG
KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate companies to which a higher investment
risk may be attached than other companies listed on the
Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of
the potential risks of investing in such companies and
should make the decision to invest only after due and
careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other
characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more suited
to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM,
there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more
susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance
is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities
traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss
howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any
part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of
Megalogic Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes
particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM
Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard
to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief
the information contained in this report is accurate and
complete in all material respects and not misleading or
deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of
which would make any statement herein or this report
misleading.
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On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Megalogic Technology
Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | hereby present the annual report of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 December 2016.

BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT AND DEVELOPMENT

The global economic environment was full of uncertainties in 2016 as the
world was surprised by the results of the Brexit referendum and the US
presidential election. However, the US dollar index and bond vyields had
surged with growing expectation of inflation and interest rate hikes. The
volatilities of the above changes may dilute the worldwide economic growth.
Despite the fluctuating demand in integrated circuit (“IC”) market, the Group
recorded a slight increase in its overall revenue, driven by the increase in the
provision of tailor-made ASIC solutions. The Group continued to enhance
research and development activities to diversify and improve its IC products
and a number of new ICs were introduced in 2016 to extend our portfolio.
These included LCD IC and DVD player IC. As at 31 December 2016, the
Group had 12 new IC models under development and customer evaluation,
but 7 IC models had been terminated. Certain customers took prudent view
in project investment and extended the process of evaluation, acceptance
and moaodification and therefore, the completion time of development was
prolonged.

As the Group continued to put more efforts and resources to develop the
money lending business, we achieved a remarkable progress in 2016. With
the provision of efficient customer service and variety of loan products, our
loan portfolio and customer base were further enriched in 2016. Our loans
receivables expanded strikingly from approximately HK$86.4 million in
December 2015 to approximately HK$256.0 milion in December 2016.
Looking ahead, the Group will continue to seek for loan portfolio expansion
with a balanced risk and return framework.

On 9 March 2016, Excellence Steps Limited, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company as the purchaser and Mr. Chung Pui Nam, Roger as the
vendor entered into a sale and purchase agreement in relation to the
acquisition of 55% of the issued share capital of Maximus Venture Holdings
Limited (“Maximus”) at a consideration of an aggregate sum of HK$27.5
million. On 1 May 2016, the Group completed such acquisition of a total
solutions for information security business. The business aims to provide the
security assessment, consulting, testing, monitoring and training as well as
system integration services of information security business in Hong Kong.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
FRHEE (B

On 6 January 2017, the Company, as the purchaser, Standard Apex Limited
as the vendor and Ms. Xie Jihong as the guarantor entered into a conditional
sale and purchase agreement in relation to the acquisition of 100% of the
issued share capital of Quick Wit Ventures Limited (the “Quick Wit") at a
consideration of HK$140 million. The Quick Wit and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Quick Wit Group”) are principally engaged in provision of
investment and planning consulting service, real estate agent, property
management services and car parking management services in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”). On 20 January 2017, the acquisition of the
Quick Wit had been completed.

As a result of the continuing business expansion and development, the Group
recorded a turnaround to profit for the year 2016. We would like to share
more details of the Group’s performance, financial position and other
information for the year 2016 with shareholders in the following section of
“Management Discussion and Analysis”.

In order to strengthen the general working capital base for business
development, the Group raised approximately HK$207.4 million by way of an
open offer of 1,036,800,000 offer shares at the subscription price of HK$0.2
per offer share on the basis of three offer shares for every one share held on
16 December 2015. The entire net proceeds had been used for the
expansion of our money lending business, development of the IC business
had general working capital for the other existing business. On 9 May 2016,
the Company has granted share options to certain grantees to subscribe, in
aggregate, for up to 29,030,400 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in share
capital of the Company under the share option scheme adopted by the
Company on 16 May 2012 (the “Share Option Scheme”). For the year 2016,
15,382,400 share options were exercised and 13,648,000 share options
were lapsed. For details of the business progress, use of proceeds and share
options, please refer to the following section of “Management Discussion and
Analysis”.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board is committed to continuing to maintain high standards of corporate
governance and all board committees have effectively supported the Board in
carrying out its responsibilities. The Board will persist to explore new business
opportunities to maximize the long term interests for the shareholders as a
whole.
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APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere thanks to the
valuable contribution from our management team. | would also like to express
my gratitude to all staff for their hard work in the execution of the Group’s
strategies and operations during the past year. Last but not least, | wish to
thank all shareholders, customers, suppliers, business partners and bankers
for their continuous support and confidence in the Group.

Mr. Zhang Qing
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2017
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
SR E 51w iR

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the principal activities of the
Group are: (1) the provision of ICs solutions and the design, development and
sales of integrated circuits; (2) money lending business in Hong Kong through
the provision of unsecured and secured loans to customers,
individual and corporations under the provisions of the Money Lenders
Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the Laws of Hong Kong); and (3) the provision of
total solutions for information security services, including security assessment,
consulting, testing, monitoring and training as well as system integration
services of information security business.

including

BUSINESS REVIEW

IC Business

Through its wholly-owned fabless semiconductor subsidiary, MiniLogic Device
Corporation Limited, the Group sells IC under its own brand name “MiniLogic”
and provides application specific IC service (“ASIC Service”) in design and
development of tailor-made IC to its customers. The Group also provides
tailor-made IC solutions and sells tailor-made ICs to customers under the
ASIC Service business section (the “ASIC Section”); and independently
develops and sells generically-applicable ICs for sale in the market under the
MiniLogic Brand IC business section (the “Standard IC Section”).

Over the past year, the research and development (the “R&D”) team
completed and launched 2 new models in standard LCD IC and ASIC DVD
Player IC respectively.

The R&D teams also deployed 4 more new IC models but terminated 7 during
the year. As at 31 December 2016, the Group had 12 new IC models under
development and customer evaluation. The completion of the development of
several new IC models has been extended as the process was prolonged
due to customer evaluation, acceptance and modification work. Developing
IC products with suitable technology that appeal to the market is essential for
the growth of IC business. This can also expand the range of the IC products
and maintain our competitiveness.

ASIC Section

Under the ASIC Section, the major products are Electronic Cigarette ICs,
DVD Player ICs, Power Management ICs and CCD Surveillance System ICs.
1 new IC models launched in 2016. Due to the IC industry was in a state of
recovery, revenue and margin from all major products were improved when
compared to the same period last year. Revenue from the ASIC products
slightly increased from approximately HK$18.7 million for the year of 2015 to
approximately HK$19.6 million for that of 2016.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

At the same time, revenue from the provision of ASIC Service increased from
approximately HK$0.9 million in 2015 to approximately HK$1.6 million in
2016. Due to the increase in revenue from the ASIC Service and ASIC
products, particularly in Power Management ICs, Electronic Cigarette ICs and
CCD Survillence System ICs, the overall revenue from the ASIC Section rose
by 8.3% from approximately HK$19.5 million in 2015 to approximately
HK$21.2 million in 2016.

Standard IC Section

Under the Standard IC Section, the major products are LCD Driver ICs for
instrument panel, Power Management ICs and LED Lighting Driver ICs. There
was 1 new IC model launched in 2016. In view of the increasing market
competition, the market sentiment for the LCD Driver ICs and Power
Management ICs were worsening in 2016, which leading to the decrease in
overall revenue. Accordingly, the overall revenue from the Standard IC Section
was decreased by 33.9% from approximately HK$4.2 million in 2015 to
approximately HK$2.8 million in 2016.

Money Lending Business

Through its indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, Easy Loan Finance Limited (“Easy
Loan”), which owned a money lender license in Hong Kong, the Group
engages in the money lending business, such as secured and unsecured
loans to customers comprising individuals and corporations to earn interest
income. In 2016, the Group continues to put more efforts and resources to
develop this business and achieve remarkable progress. The Group’s loans
receivables, which are repayable according to repayment schedules with
contractual maturity ranging from 1 month to 12 years, increased significantly
from approximately HK$86.4 million as at 31 December 2015 to
approximately HK$256.0 million as at 31 December 2016. Accordingly, the
revenue increased significantly by 387.3% from approximately HK$5.5 million
in 2015 to approximately HK$27.0 million in 2016.

Total Solutions for Information Security Business

Following the completion of the acquisition of 55% of the issued share capital
of Maximus, the Group has entered into the total solutions for information
security industry and provides professional one-stop information security
services and solution for our clients since 1 May 2016.

Technical Assessment Services

The consulting team conducts the penetration test, vulnerability scanning,
threat assessment and source coding scanning of the customers’ information
systems and tools. There were 54 newly signed contracts in this sector as at
31 December 2016. The revenue of this sector since acquisition amounted to
approximately HK$3.2 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
E 1[5 & 7 iifr (7&)

Compliance Services

The consulting team designs and develops customers’ internal security
governance policies and trainings under the information security compliance
area. There were 38 newly signed contracts in this sector as at 31 December
2016. The revenue of this sector since acquisition amounted to approximately
HK$5.3 million.

Compliance Automation Services

The consulting team sources appropriate information security software and/or
systems with the aim to improve security of the information technology
systems and to prevent possible data threats. There were 8 newly signed
contracts in this sector as at 31 December 2016. The revenue of this sector
since acquisition amounted to approximately HK$0.6 million.

Managed Security Services

The consulting team monitors the customers’ information technology systems
on 24 hours everyday basis for locating possible threats and detecting
attacks to the customers’ systems. There were 9 newly signed contracts in
this sector as at 31 December 2016. The revenue of this sector since
acquisition amounted to approximately HK$0.7 million.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Below is an analysis of our key financial indicators including, but not limited to
revenue, cost of sales, gross profit and cost to income ratio, which reflected
the financial position of the business.

Revenue, Cost of Sales and Gross Profit

The total revenue of the Group increased significantly by 107.7% from
approximately HK$29.2 million in 2015 to approximately HK$60.8 million in
2016. The increase was mainly due to improvement of IC business, the
continuous growth and expansion of the money lending business and the
revenue generated from the newly acquired information security business.

Cost of sales and services of the Group related to the IC and information
security business which were slightly decreased by 1.3% from approximately
HK$20.0 million in 2015 to approximately HK$19.8 million in 2016.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

The gross profit of the ASIC Section increased by 157.6% from approximately
HK$2.2 million in 2015 to approximately HK$5.7 million in 2016, and gross
profit margin of the ASIC Section was 26.3% in 2016, representing an
increase of 15.1 percentage points from 11.2% in 2015. The increase in
gross profit margin of ASIC Section was mainly due to the increase in revenue
of ASIC Service, which had a higher margin, and decrease of cost of sales of
ASIC products. The gross profit of the Standard IC Section dropped by
42.9% from approximately HK$1.5 million in 2015 to approximately HK$0.8
million in 2016, and the gross profit margin of Standard IC Section was
30.8% in 2016, representing a drop of 4.8 percentage points from 35.6% in
2015. The drop in gross profit margin of Standard IC Section was mainly
attributable to the decline in revenue from certain higher margin Standard IC
products. The overall gross profit of the Group increased significantly by
344.6% from approximately HK$9.2 million in 2015 to approximately HK$41.0
million in 2016, and the overall gross profit margin of the Group was 67.5%,
representing an increase of 36.0 percentage points from 31.5% in 2015. The
overall gross profit margin improved due to the improvement of IC business,
positive contribution in the money lending business, and newly acquired
information security business, which had a higher margin.

Expenses

Staff costs increased by 32.9% from approximately HK$10.7 million in 2015
to approximately HK$14.2 million in 2016. The increase was primarily
attributable to equity-settled share-based payments in connection with share
options and newly acquired information security business, as compared to
2015.

Operating lease rentals increased by 78.9% from approximately HK$1.2
million in 2015 to approximately HK$2.2 million in 2016, which was mainly
due to the opening of new offices in Hong Kong since April 2016 and newly
acquired information security business.

Depreciation and amortisation increased by 26.2% from approximately
HK$1.4 million in 2015 to approximately HK$1.8 million in 2016, mainly
because of the depreciation of newly acquired instruments and leasehold
improvement and newly acquired information security business, and
amortisation charge on internally-generated intangible asset from information
security business.

Other operating expenses increased by 92.3% from approximately HK$4.8
million in 2015 to approximately HK$9.1 million in 2016. The increase was
mainly attributable to related cost in the acquisition of Maximus and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Maximus Group”), more referral
fees in the money leading business and newly acquired information security
business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
B2 @515 K& 5 i (18)

Profit Attributable to Owners of the Company

The consolidated profit attributable to owners of the Company for the year
2016 was approximately HK$8.9 million. For the year 2015, the consolidated
loss attributable to owners of the Company was approximately HK$8.9
million. The increase was approximately HK$17.8 million, or 200.5%. The
turnaround was mainly attributable to the increase in overall revenue and
gross profit margin as a result of the continuous growth and expansion of the
money lending business and the revenue and profit generated from the newly
acquired information security business.

Cost to income ratio

The cost to income ratio of the Group (expenses/revenue) was 49.7% in
2016, representing a drop of 12.2 percentage points from 61.9% in 2015.
The drop in its ratio was mainly attributable to the improvement of revenue
from the IC business, and revenue increase in money lendering business and
revenue generated from the newly acquired information security business.

RISKS RELATING TO THE GROUP AND ITS
BUSINESS

Reliance on a few key customers

The Group’s ability to maintain close relationships with its customers is
important to its ongoing growth and profitability. Although the Group’s
revenue from specific customers vary from period to period, a significant
portion of the Group’s total revenue was derived from a few major customers
for the year ended 31 December 2016 and the corresponding period in last
year. The five largest customers accounted for approximately 27.9% and
61.4% of the Group’s revenue while the largest customer accounted for
approximately 8.5% and 23.8% of the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31
December 2016 and 2015 respectively. The Group has established its
business relationship with the largest customer, which is an independent third
party (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) principally engaged in sales and
production of electronic devices and components, since 2006. However, as
the Group does not enter into long term or master sales contracts with its
major customers, there is no assurance that they will continue to purchase
products from the Group at the same level as they have done in the past.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2016, the Group had bank and cash balances of
approximately HK$8.0 million (2015: HK$188.7 million) and did not have any
borrowings, banking facilities or any loan arrangement containing any
covenant. The current ratio of the Group as at 31 December 2016 was
2,631.1% (31 December 2015: 12,844.0%), reflecting the fact that the
liquidity of the Group remained healthy. The gearing ratio calculated as the
ratio of total interest-bearing debt to total asset was nil as at 31 December
2016 (31 December 2015: nil). The Group’s financial position is healthy,
enabling the Group advantageously to expand its core business and to
achieve its business objectives.

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, the Group did not have
any charges on its assets.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group’s transactions are mainly denominated in United States dollars,
Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi. Therefore, the Group is exposed to foreign
currency exchange risk. The Group has not implemented any foreign currency
hedging policy at the moment. However, continuous monitoring on the
foreign exchange exposure is carried out by the management and the
management will consider hedging against significant foreign exchange
exposure should the need arise.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CAPITAL
COMMITMENT

The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities or capital
commitment as at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
B2 @515 K& 5 i (18)

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES, AND FUTURE PLANS FOR
MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group completed the acquisition of 55% of the issued share capital of
Maximus on 1 May 2016 and the acquisition of the entire issued share capital
of Quick Wit on 20 January 2017.

Save for those disclosed in this annual report, there were no significant
investments held by the Group as at 31 December 2016 and 31 December
2015, nor were there other material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries
by the Group during these years. Apart from those disclosed in this annual
report, there was no other plan authorised by the Board for other material
investments or additions of capital assets at the date of this report (2015: nil).

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2016 (2015: nil).

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The Group has approximately 41 (2015: 18) employees as at 31 December
2016. The Group’s remuneration policies are in line with the prevailing market
practice and are determined on the basis of performance, qualification and
experience of individual employee. We recognise the importance of a good
relationship with our employees. The remuneration payable to our employees
includes salaries, share options and allowances. Other benefits include
training and discretionary bonus.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group has minimised the operation impact on the environment and
natural resource. During 2016, the Group has collected recycled papers and
used it as key printing materials. Also for the energy saving practices in
offices, the Group will use Hong Kong Electrical and Mechanical Services
Department certified electricity consumption appliances to reduce electricity
consumption, and will replace lighting fixtures with LED lighting or T5
fluorescent tubes where possible.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

COMPLIANCE WITH THE APPLICABLE LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements and the risk of non-compliance with such requirements could
lead to the termination of operating licences. The Group has been allocating
system and staff resources to ensure ongoing compliance with the applicable
rules and regulations and to maintain cordial working relationships with
regulators effectively through effective communications.

During the year under review, the Group has complied, to the best of our
knowledge, with the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”) and the GEM Listing Rules and other
applicable rules and regulations.

FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES

On 16 December 2015, the Company completed the open offer to raise
approximately HK$207.4 million (before costs and expenses) by way of an
open offer of 1,036,800,000 offer shares at the subscription price of HK$0.20
per offer share on the basis of three offer shares for every one share held on
the record date, 24 November 2015, on the terms pursuant to the
underwriting agreement dated 25 August 2015 (the “Underwriting
Agreement”) entered into among the Company, China Rise Securities Asset
Management Company Limited and Metro Classic Limited relating to the
underwriting and other arrangement in respect of the open offer (the “Open
Offer”). Details of the Open Offer and the completion of the open offer are set
out in the Company’s announcements dated 1 September 2015, 21
September 2015, 29 September 2015, 9 October 2015 and 16 December
2015, the Company’s circular dated 16 October 2015 and the Company’s
listing document dated 25 November 2015 respectively. The net proceeds
raised upon completion after deduction of relevant costs and expenses were
approximately HK$199 million. The net proceeds has been intended to use (i)
approximately HK$169 million to fund the expansion of the money lending
business of the Group; (i) approximately HK$20 million for the development
of the IC business of the Group; and (i) approximately HK$10 million for the
general working capital for the other existing businesses of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
B2 @515 K& 5 i (18)

The directors had considered various ways of raising funds and believed that
the Open Offer represented an opportunity to raise capital for the Company
while broadening the shareholder’s base and capital base of the Company.
The utilisation of the net proceeds up to 31 December 2016 is:

Net proceeds Intended use of the net proceeds
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ACQUISITION OF AN TOTAL SOLUTIONS FOR
INFORMATION SECURITY BUSINESS

On 5 February 2016 and 9 March 2016, Excellence Steps Limited, a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company as the purchaser and Mr. Chung
Pui Nam, Roger as the vendor and being an independent third party of the
Group, entered into a letter of intent and a sale and purchase agreement
respectively in relation to the acquisition of 55% of the issued share capital of
Maximus. All of the conditions precedent under the acquisition agreement
have been fulfilled (or otherwise waived) and the completion took place on 1
May 2016 in accordance with the terms and conditions of the acquisition
agreement. Upon completion of the acquisition, the Maximus has become an
indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and the financial results
of the Maximus and its subsidiaries have been consolidated into the financial
statement of the Group.

Details of the acquisition of 55% of the issued share capital of Maximus were
disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 5 February 2016, 9 March
2016, 31 March 2016, and 2 May 2016 respectively and the Company’s
circular dated 12 April 2016.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

COMPLETION OF THE ACQUISITION OF
QUICK WIT

On 6 January 2017, the Company as the purchaser, Standard Apex Limited
as the vendor and Ms. Xie Jihong as the guarantor, being an independent
third parties of the Group, entered into a conditional sale and purchase
agreement (the “Sale and Purchase Agreement”), in relation to the acquisition
of the entire issued share capital of Quick Wit at a consideration of HK$140
million. Quick Wit Group is principally engaged in provision of investment and
planning consulting service, real estate agent, property management services
and car parking management services in the PRC. All of the conditions
precedent under the Sale and Purchase Agreement have been fulfilled and
the completion took place on 20 January 2017 in accordance with the terms
and conditions of the Sale and Purchase Agreement. Upon completion of the
acquisition, Quick Wit has become a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company and the financial results of the Quick Wit Group have been
consolidated into the financial statement of the Group.

Details of the acquisition were disclosed in the Company’s announcements
dated 22 December 2016, 6 and 20 January 2017 respectively.

GRANT OF SHARE OPTIONS

On 9 May 2016, the Company has granted share options to certain grantees
to subscribe, in aggregate, for up to 29,030,400 ordinary shares of HK$0.10
each in the share capital of the Company, under the Share Option Scheme.
For the year ended 31 December 2016, 15,382,400 share options were
exercised by the grantees, and 13,648,000 share options were lapsed and
no share option remained outstanding. Details of the grant of share options
were disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 9 May 2016 and set
out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

OUTLOOK

Looking forward, the global economies have stabilized but there are potential
risks associated with the Brexit event along with upcoming elections of other
major European countries, the new administration of the United States taking
office, and continuing geopolitical tensions. We shall maintain a cautious and
prudent approach in IC business by closely monitoring the development of
the products and optimizing our resource and increasing of operational
efficiency. We are going to divert more attention and resource to develop the
money lending business, be engaged in the total solutions for information
security service, and property management and agency service through its
interest in the Maximus Group and the Quick Wit Group respectively.

Considering the challenging investment environment, the management will
continue to exercise prudency in looking for any suitable business
opportunities in future, so as to broaden the source of our revenues and cash
flows, taking into account the funding requirement and associated business
risk.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
FPFREBHS

Pursuant to Rule 18.44 of the GEM Listing Rules, the Board is pleased to
present this corporate governance report for the year ended 31 December
2016.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group has committed to upholding high standards of corporate
governance. The Board considers that enhanced public accountability and
corporate governance are beneficial for the healthy growth of the Group,
improving customer and supplier confidence and safeguarding the interests
of shareholders of the Group.

The Board has continued to monitor and review the corporate governance
principles and practices to ensure compliance. The Company has adopted
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 15
to the GEM Listing Rules as its own code and has complied with the CG
Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2016, except the following
deviations:

Under code provision A.6.7, independent non-executive directors and other
non-executive directors should also attend general meetings and develop a
balanced understanding of the views of shareholders.

1. Mr. Ko Yin Wai (being an Independent Non-Executive Director) was
unable to attend the annual general meeting and extraordinary general
meeting of the Company both held on 29 April 2016 as he was obliged
to be away for his business matter.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors (the “Model Code”) on terms no less exacting than
the required standard of dealings set out in Rule 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

Upon the specific enquiry made to all the Directors, the Company was not
aware of any non-compliance with the Model Code regarding securities
transactions by the Directors during the year ended 31 December 2016.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

The Board currently comprises seven directors including two Executive
Directors, namely Mr. Zhang Qing (Chairman) and Dr. Sung Tak Wing Leo (Chief
Executive Officer), two Non-Executive Directors namely Mr. Ye Jian and Mr.
Liu Kam Lung and three Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr.
Cheung Chi Man Dennis, Mr. Chiu Yu Wang and Mr. Ko Yin Wai. An updated
list of Directors identifying their roles and functions and whether they are
Independent Non-Executive Directors has been published on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange respectively. The profiles of the
Directors are set out in the section “Profiles of Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, four regular Board meetings and
eight other Board meetings were held in addition to circulation of written
resolution. The attendance record of individual Directors to the Board and the
committee meetings during the year ended 31 December 2016 are shown
below:
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Attendance record of meetings held in 2016
R2016F RBTHERHERE

Extraordinary

Annual General General Audit Remuneration Nomination
Name of member Meeting Meeting Board Committee Committee Committee
REEBH BRRBERE BRRENAE Exe ERZEET ¥FMZEEE REZEEE
In number (in %)  In number (in %) In number (in %)  In number (in %)  In number (in %)  In number (in %)
RE(EHE) RB(EIL) AB(EIL) RE(EIK) RE@EIHL) KBE(EAL)
Total Number of Meetings 1 1 12 6 2 1
BENEAY (Note 1)
(fr5E1)
Number of Meetings attended/Total
HEEERE EH
Executive Directors
HTES
Mr. Zhang Qing (Chairman) 11 11 12/12 N/A N/A N/A
REXE(EE) (100%) (100%) (100%) TiE A T TER
Dr. Sung Tak Wing Leo (Chief Executive
Officer) 11 11 12/12 N/A N/A N/A
REREL (FTHAEH) (100%) (100%) (100%) T8 TE A TiE A

-
0

Bibol0z LV HEBBNEEH



N
o

910Z L3OdI TVNNNY AILIWIT SONIATOH ADOTONHIIL JIDOTVOIW

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
EREBGHRS (18)

Attendance record of meetings held in 2016 (Continued)
H2016 F R BTN ERHFEL & (E)

Extraordinary

Annual General General Audit Remuneration Nomination
Name of member Meeting Meeting Board Committee Committee Committee
REER BRRBEFAE RREBIKRE Exe EHRZEEE FMHEET REZEE
In number (in %) In number (in %) In number (in %) In number (in %) Innumber (in %) In number (in %)
R (BAL) RE(EIL) RB(EIL) K#HEIL) K#(EHEL) KB(EHL)
Non-Executive Directors
FHTES
Mr. Ye Jian 11 11 10/12 N/A N/A N/A
EREA (100%) (100%) (83%) A i A TiEA i A
Mr. Liu Kam Lung 11 11 10/12 N/A N/A N/A
BaikaE (100%) (100%) (83%) i A TiEA T iE A
Independent Non-Executive Directors
BYFHTES
Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis 11 11 10/12 6/6 2/2 11
REX & 4E (100%) (100%) (83%) (100%) (100%) (100%)
Mr. Chiu Yu Wang 11 11 10/12 6/6 2/2 11
R RS (100%) (100%) (83%) (100%) (100%) (100%)
Mr. Ko Yin Wai 0/ 01 8/12 5/6 2/2 1/1
=2EEEE (0%) (0%) (67%) (83%) (100%) (100%)
Note: M E

1.

The Board held four regular Board meetings and eight other full Board meetings 1.

during the year ended 31 December 2016.
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THE RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for the control and leadership of management of the
Company’s business and is collectively responsible for the Company’s affair
under the Board’s direction and supervision. All the Directors should make
decision objectively in the interests of the Company.

The overall responsibilities of the Board include considering and making
decisions on the following matters:

M

(i)

(i)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

Setting the corporate goals of the Group and formulating the Group’s
strategy and monitoring the implementation;

Diversification and extension of activities into new business area;

Approving the annual, half year and quarterly results;

Dividend policy;

Material acquisitions and disposal;

Reviewing and monitoring the Group’s internal control systems;

Monitoring the performance of the Management; and

Determining and reviewing the composition and diversity of the Board.
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BOARD COMPOSITION AND DIVERSITY
POLICY

The Company has adopted the board diversity policy since 30 August 2013.
The policy sets out the approach to achieve diversity in the Board that should
have a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate
to the requirements of the Group’s business and compliance with policies.
The composition and diversity policies of the Board is reviewed annually and
regularly. The Board should ensure that its changes in composition will not
result in any undue interference. The Board members should possess
appropriate professionalism, experience and trustworthiness in performing
duties and functions. The Board would diversify its members according to the
Company’s situations and need. While participating in nomination and
recommendation of director candidates during the year, each member of the
Board may consider a range of diversity perspectives, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, or professional
experience in achieving diversity for the benefit of the Company’s various
business development and management. The Board is to review the policy
concerning diversity of Board members, and to disclose the policy or a
summary of the policy in the corporate governance report, including any
quantitative targets and standards and its progress with policy
implementation.

During the year of 2016, the Board has reviewed the diversity of the Board
and considered the Board composition and diversity policy appropriate.

MANAGEMENT

The daily management, administration and operation of the Company are
delegated to the Chief Executive Officer and senior management (the
“Management”). The delegated functions and assignments are periodically
reviewed. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to entering into
any significant transactions by the above mentioned officers.
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The overall responsibilities of the Management include considering and
making decisions on the following matters:

(i) Implementing the Group’s policy and strategies as set by the Board;

(i) Strategic planning of different business and functions;

(i)  Closely monitoring operational and financial results in accordance with
plans and budgets;

(iv)  Putting adequate operational, planning and financial control systems in
place; and

(v)  Managing the Group’s day to day business.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

In compliance with Rules 5.05(1) and (2) of the GEM Listing Rules, the
Company has appointed three Independent Non-Executive Directors; and at
least one of whom has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise. Each of the Independent Non-
Executive Directors has made an annual confirmation in writing of his
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and the
Company considers that all the Independent Non-Executive Directors were
independent.

All Independent Non-Executive Directors are identified as such in all corporate
communications containing the names of the Directors by the Company.

Save as otherwise disclosed herein, there is no family or other material
relationship among members of the Board.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

All Directors, including Independent Non-Executive Directors, should keep
abreast of their collective responsibilities as Directors and of the businesses
and activities of the Group. The Group also provides briefings and other
training to develop and refresh the Directors’ knowledge and skills, and
updates all Directors on the latest developments regarding the GEM Listing
Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure compliance and
to enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices.
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During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Directors provided their # Z=2016F 12 A3 B LFERN EFAARQ
training record to the Company in respect of their participation in training "] 3E L X EEJIIVE & 2 EZ L& (Fl &
activities such as attending seminars relevant to their duties and HBE{EA T ARNESHBE NS F O
responsibilities as directors of a listed company, particulars of which are as &) - BT :

follows:

Reading Attending
materials the seminar
relevant to Attending relevant to
directors’ the seminar the skill of
duties and provided by the the Director’s
responsibilities Company position
BEBR HEHEES
ESRER DHEBAEAF BB {3 B B

EAEZER REZHEE HEZHSS

Executive Directors

BITES

Mr. Zhang Qing (Chairman) v v v
RELE(FERE)

Dr. Sung Tak Wing Leo (Chief Executive Officer) 4 v 4

REKRE L (7THAEE)

Non-Executive Directors

FHITES

Mr. Ye Jian v v v
BEEGE

Mr. Liu Kam Lung v — v
BeELE

Independent Non-Executive Directors

BIYKHTES

Mr. Ko Yin Wai ' v v
SRS

Mr. Chiu Yu Wang v v v
LR A

Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis v v v

REXFEE



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Chairman of the Board of the Company is Mr. Zhang Qing. The Chief
Executive Officer of the Company is Dr. Sung Tak Wing Leo. The roles of the
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are separated and not performed
by the same individual to prevent power concentration on any one individual.
The Chairman is primarily responsible for managing the Board, whereas the
Chief Executive Officer is primarily responsible for overseeing the various
businesses of the Group. Their respective roles and responsibilities are
summarised as follows:

Responsibilities of the Chairman include:

(i) leading the Board and ensuring that the Board functions effectively and
smoothly;

(ii) chairing the Board and shareholder’s meetings;

(i)  approving the agenda for each Board meeting, taking into account,
where appropriate, any matters proposed by the other Directors and
the Company Secretary for inclusion in the agenda;

(iv)  ensuring that all Directors receive all relevant information prior to each
meeting and are properly briefed on issues arising at Board meetings;

(v)  ensuring all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a
timely and constructive manner;

(vi)  encouraging all Directors, including the Independent Non-Executive
Directors, to actively participate in all Board and Board Committees
meetings and promoting a culture of openness for the Directors to
share and voice their concerns on all matters during each meeting;

(vii)  ensuring good corporate governance practices and procedures are
established and followed; and

(vii) taking appropriate steps to provide effective communication with
shareholders and to ensure that shareholders’ view are communicated
to the Board as a whole.
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Responsibilities of the Chief Executive Officer include:

i) implementing the Group’s policy and strategies as set by the Board;

(ii) strategic planning of different business and functions;

(i) closely monitoring operational and financial results in accordance with
plans and budgets;

(iv)  assuming full accountability to the Board for all aspects of the Group’s
operations and performance;

(v)  maintaining ongoing dialogue with the Chairman and the other
Directors;

(v)  developing and leading an effective executive team;

(vii)  putting adequate operational, planning and financial control systems in
place; and

(viii)  representing the Company and managing the Group’s day to day
business.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

All the Directors (including the Independent Non-Executive Directors) are
appointed for an initial term of one year and subject to retirement by rotation
and eligible for re-election in accordance with the Company’s articles of
association (the "Articles"). At each annual general meeting, not less than one
third of the Directors then in office shall retire and every Director is subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

All existing Directors are entitled to a fixed remuneration per month or fee per
annum respectively. The remuneration of each Director is subject to the
annual review of the Board with reference to his contribution in terms of time,
effort and his expertise.

Details of remuneration paid to each of the Directors during the year are
disclosed in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

All Directors are entitled to be reimbursed for reasonable expenses incurred
during the performance of their duties to the Company and are eligible for
share options under the Share Option Scheme.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the board committees, namely, the audit
committee, the remuneration committee and the nomination committee, all
with specific terms of reference clearly defining the powers and responsibilities
of the respective board committees. All board committees are required by
their terms of reference to report to the Board in relation to their decisions,
findings or recommendations.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee (“Audit Committee”) with
written terms of reference that are in conformity with the requirements of the
CG Code which are available on the websites of the Hong Kong Exchanges
and Clearing Limited and the Company.

The Audit Committee is currently composed of the three Independent Non-
Executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis, Mr. Chiu Yu Wang
and Mr. Ko Yin Wai, and chaired by Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis, with all
members being Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company in full
compliance with Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules.

For the year ended 31 December 2016, six audit committee meetings were
held and the members’ attendance is shown on page 19 to 20 of this annual
report.

The role and function of the Audit Committee include the following:

() Relationship with the Company’s auditors

(@  to be primarily responsible for making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal of the
external auditor and to approve the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor, and any questions of
resignation or dismissal;

(b)  to review and monitor the independence and objectivity of the
external auditors and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards. The Audit Committee
should discuss with the external auditors the nature and scope of
the audit and reporting obligations before the audit commences;
and
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to develop and implement policy on engaging the external
auditors to supply non-audit services. For this purpose, “external
auditors” includes any entity that is under common control,
ownership or management with the audit firm or any entity that a
reasonable and informed third party knowing all relevant
information would reasonably conclude to be part of the audit
firm nationally or internationally. The Audit Committee should
report to the Board, identifying and making recommendations on
any matters where action or improvement is needed.

(ii) Review of the Company’s financial information

(@)

to monitor the integrity of the financial statements, annual report
and accounts, half-year report and quarterly reports of the
Company, and to review significant financial reporting judgments
contained in them. In reviewing these reports and accounts
before submission to the Board, the Audit Committee should
focus particularly on:

(1) any changes in accounting policies and practices;

(2)  major judgmental areas;

(8)  significant adjustments resulting from audit;

(4)  the going concern assumptions and any qualifications;

(5)  compliance with accounting standards; and

(6) compliance with GEM Listing Rules and legal requirements
in relation to financial reporting.

Regarding (ii)(a) above,

(1)  members of the Audit Committee should liaise with the
Board and senior management, and the Audit Committee
must meet, at least twice a year, with the external auditors;
and
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(2)  the Audit Committee should consider any significant or
unusual items that are, or may need to be, reflected in the
reports and accounts and should give due consideration to
any matters that have been raised by the Company’s staff
responsible for the accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions, compliance officer or the external
auditors.

(iii) Oversight of the Company’s financial reporting
system, risk management and internal control
systems

(@)

to review the financial controls, and unless expressly addressed
by a separate Board risk management and internal control
committee, or by the Board itself, to review the risk management
and internal control systems of the Company;

to discuss the risk management and internal control systems
with the management to ensure that the management has
performed its duty to have effective systems. This discussion
should include the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Company’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions;

to consider major investigation findings on risk management and
internal control matters as delegated by the Board or on its own
initiative and the management’s response to these findings;

to ensure co-ordination between the internal and the external
auditors, and to ensure that the internal audit function is
adequately resourced and has appropriate standing within the
Company, and to review and monitor its effectiveness;

to review the financial and accounting policies and practices of
the Company and its subsidiaries;

to review the management letter of the external auditors, any
material queries raised by the external auditors to management
about accounting records, financial accounts or systems of
control and the management’s response;

to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response to the
issues raised in the management letter of the external auditors;
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(h)  to report to the Board on the matters in the code provisions in
the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance
Report set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules;

(i) to consider other topics, as defined by the Board;

() to review arrangements employees of the Company can use, in
confidence, to raise concerns about possible improprieties in
financial reporting, internal control or other matters. The Audit
Committee should ensure that proper arrangements are in place
for fair and independent investigation of these matters and for
appropriate follow-up action; and

(k) to act as the key representative body for overseeing the
Company’s relations with the external auditors.

Major accomplishments in 2016 comprised the following:

(@  reviewed the quarterly, half-yearly and annually results of the Group as
well as discussed and reviewed financial and other reports for the year;

(b)  reviewed the external auditors’ significant findings and management’s
response to the recommendation raised;

(c)  reviewed the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems and the adequacy of the accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting functions of the Group;

(d)  reviewed and approved the external auditors’ statutory audit scope for
2016 and the letter of representation to be given by the Board;

(e)  considered and approved the 2016 external audit fees and engagement
letters;

4] monitored the audit and non-audit services rendered to the Group by
its external auditor and ensures their engagement in other non-audit
services, if any, will not impair their audit independence or objectivity;
and

(@  revised the terms of reference of the Audit Committee.
There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee on

the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of the external auditors
for the year ended 31 December 2016.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2016 and recommended approval to
the Board.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a remuneration committee (“Remuneration
Committee”) with written terms of reference in accordance with the
requirement of the CG Code. In accordance with provisions set out in the CG
Code are available on the websites of the Hong Kong Exchanges and
Clearing Limited and the Company.

The Remuneration Committee is currently composed of the three Independent
Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis, Mr. Chiu Yu
Wang and Mr. Ko Yin Wai, and chaired by Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis.

For the year ended 31 December 2016, two remuneration committee
meetings were held and the members’ attendance is shown on page 19 to
20 of this annual report.

The role and function of the Remuneration Committee includes:

(i) to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for all directors’ and senior management remuneration and on
the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policy;

(i) to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals with
reference to the Board’s corporate goal and objectives;

(i) to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual executive directors and senior management. This should
include benefits in kind, person rights and compensation payments,
including any compensation payable for loss or termination of their
office or appointment;

(iv)  to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of Non-
executive directors;

(v)  to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment
and responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere in the
Group;

(v)  to review and approve compensation payable to executive directors
and senior management for any loss or termination of office or
appointment to ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms and
is otherwise fair and not excessive;
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(vii)

(viil)

to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or remove of directors for misconduct to ensure that they are
consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and
appropriate; and

to ensure that no director or any of his associates is involved in
deciding his own remuneration.

Major accomplishments in 2016 comprised the following:

(i)

reviewed matters relating to the existing remuneration packages and
emoluments of Directors and senior management;

considered and reviewed the Group’s remuneration policy with
reference to time commitment and responsibilities of the Directors and
the senior management, desirability of performance-based
remuneration; and

considered matters relating to the grant of share option arrangement of
Directors.

ANNUAL REMUNERATION PAYABLE TO THE
MEMBERS OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The annual remuneration of the members of the senior management by band
for the year ended 31 December 2016 is as follows:

Remuneration Bands
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a nomination committee (“Nomination
Committee”) with written terms of reference. The terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee are in conformity with the requirements of the CG
Code and are available on the websites of the Hong Kong Exchanges and
Clearing Limited and the Company.

The Nomination Committee is currently composed of the three Independent
Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis, Mr. Chiu Yu
Wang and Mr. Ko Yin Wai, and chaired by Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis.

For the year ended 31 December 2016, one Nomination Committee meeting
was held and the members’ attendance is shown on page 19 to 20 of this
annual report.

The role and function of the Nomination Committee includes:

i) to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

(i)  toidentify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and
select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of,
individuals nominated for directorships;

(iy  to assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors;

(iv)  to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors in
particular the Chairman and the chief executive of the Company; and

(v)  where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual as an
independent non-executive director at the general meeting, it should
set out in the circular to shareholders and/or explanatory statement
accompanying the notice of the relevant general meeting why the
Nomination Committee believes he should be elected and the reasons
why the Nomination Committee considers him to be independent.
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Major accomplishments in 2016 comprised the following:
(i) recommended to the Board with respect to the retirement and re-

election of Directors at the last annual general meeting held on 29 April
2016.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties set
out in the code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

The Board held two meetings for the purpose of reviewing the compliance of
corporate governance policies for the year ended 31 December 2016.

The duties of the Board include:

(i) to develop and review the Group’s policies and practices on corporate
governance and make recommendations to the Board;

(i)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(i) toreview and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements;

(iv)  to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual applicable to employees and Directors; and

(v)  to review the Group’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in
the CG Report.

Major accomplishments in 2016 comprised the following:

(i) evaluated the Group’s policies and practices on corporate governance
and made appropriate amendments;

(ii) arranged the training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management; and

(i) reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure
in the Corporate Governance Report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

AUDITORS

Auditors’ Remuneration

The fees in respect of audit and non-audit services provided by the external
auditors to the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016 amounted to
approximately HK$535,000 and HK$350,000 respectively. The non-audit
service represented service fees for the acquisition of subsidiaries of the
Group.

The accounts for the year 2016 were audited by JH CPA Alliance Limited
whose term of office will expire upon the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company. The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board that
JH CPA Alliance Limited be re-appointed as the auditors of the Company at
the forthcoming annual general meeting.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation and true
and fair presentation of the Financial Statements in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining internal
control relevant to the preparation and the true and fair presentation of the
Financial Statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and
making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. The
Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern as at 31 December 2016. Accordingly, the
Directors have prepared the Financial Statements for the year ended 31
December 2016 on a going concern basis.

The statement of the external auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statement is set out in the section of
“Independent Auditors’ Report” contained in this annual report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Company improves its business and operational activities by identifying
the areas of significant business risks via a regular review and taking
appropriate measures to control and mitigate these risks. The management
of the Company reviews all significant control policies and procedures and
highlights all significant matters to the Board and Audit Committee.

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to establish, maintain and review
the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal controls with a view to
ensuring that shareholders’ investments and the Group’s assets are
safeguarded. The Company has established internal audit department to
monitor compliance with policies and procedures and the effectiveness of
internal control structures of the Group. The internal audit department reports
directly to the Audit Committee and ensure the internal controls are in place
and functioning properly as intended. In the year under review, Infinity
Corporate Advisory Limited as independent consultant, has reviewed the
effectiveness of the internal control systems of the Group, covering material
controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions. In addition, there is regular dialogue between the
Audit Committee and the Group’s external auditors so that both are aware of
the significant factors which may affect their respective scope of work.

Audit Committee reviewed the internal control system in respect of the year
ended 31 December 2016 by reference to the internal control review report
issued by Infinity Corporate Advisory Limited and considered the system
effective and adequate. The Board conducted a review of the internal control
system of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December
2016, including financial, operational and compliance control, and risk
management functions. The Board assessed the effectiveness of internal
control by considering the reviews performed by Infinity Corporate Advisory
Limited. The Company complies with the code provisions relating to internal
control contained in the CG Code for the year ended 31 December 2016.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Chan Lok Yin, an external service provider, resigned as the Joint
Company Secretary and Mr. Ng King Hang was appointed as the Joint
Company Secretary on 29 April 2016.

As at 31 December 2016, the Joint Company Secretaries were Dr. Sung Tak
Wing Leo and Mr. Ng King Hang.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Details of backgrounds and qualification of the Joint Company Secretaries of
the Company are set out in the section of “Profiles of Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report.

A written record had been received by the Company from Dr. Sung Tak Wing
Leo and Mr. Ng King Hang to confirm that each of them took not less than 15
hours of relevant professional training during the year ended 31 December
2016. The Company is of the view that Dr. Sung Tak Wing Leo and Mr. Ng
King Hang have complied with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS TO CONVENE
EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

In order to safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolutions
are proposed at shareholders’ meetings on each substantial issue, including
the election of individual directors, for shareholders’ consideration and voting.

The following procedures for shareholders of the Company to convene an
extraordinary general meeting are subject to the Articles, and the applicable
legislation and regulation, in particular the GEM Listing Rules:

(i) any one or more shareholders of the Company holding at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital
of the Company (the “Eligible Shareholder(s)”) carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the
right, by written requisition to the Board or the company secretary of
the Company (the “Company Secretary”), to require an extraordinary
general meeting (the “EGM”) to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition pursuant to
Article 58 of the Articles; and

(i) if within 21 days of the deposit of the requisition, the Board fails to
proceed to convene such EGM, the Eligible Shareholder(s) himself/
herself/themselves may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned as a result
of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the Eligible
Shareholder(s) by the Company.
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PROCEDURES FOR SENDING ENQUIRIES TO
THE BOARD

Apart from sending email to info@megalogic.com.hk, shareholders may send
their enquiries and concerns to the Board by addressing them to the
headquarter and principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong at
Suite 2101, 21/F., Chinachem Century Tower, 178 Gloucester Road, Wan
Chai, Hong Kong, by post or by fax to (852) 25639 0323, for the attention of
the Company Secretary.

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO PUT
FORWARD PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to move new resolutions at the
general meetings under the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of Cayman Islands. However, pursuant to the
Articles, Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may by means of
requisition convene an EGM following the procedures set out above.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has established a range of communication channels between
itself and its shareholders, investors and other stakeholders. These include
the annual general meeting, the annual, interim and quarterly reports, notices,
announcements and circulars and the Company’s website at www.
megalogic.com.hk.

CONSTITUTION DOCUMENTS

During the year, there was no change in the Company’s constitutional
documents.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Qing (“Mr. Zhang”), aged 47, is an executive director and
Chairman of the Board of the Company with effect from 1 July 2014 and was
appointed as the compliance officer of the Company with effect from 30 April
2015. He was appointed as an investor relations officer of the Company since
18 March 2014. Mr. Zhang is also a director of the certain subsidiaries of the
Company. Mr. Zhang obtained a bachelor’'s degree in economics from
Guangzhou Institute of Foreign Trade* (BIN%9MNE 5 EB7) (currently known
as Guangdong University of Foreign Studies (BXRIMNEINEKE) in the
People’s Republic of China in July 1991 and further obtained a master’s
degree in business administration from San Diego State University in the
United States in December 1998. From July 1991 to July 1996, he worked as
the foreign sales staff of China National Light Industrial Products Import &
Export Corporation*. From February 2000 to November 2003, Mr. Zhang
worked as the manager of investment department of Sichuan Harmony
Enterprises (Group) Limited*. From July 2006 to February 2013, he worked as
the investment manager of Canada Shenghe Investment Inc. Besides, Mr.
Zhang acted as the director of Sichuan Harmony Enterprises (Group) Limited*
during the period from 8 March 2011 to 12 September 2013. Mr. Zhang is a
brother-in-law of Mr. Lau Mo, a substantial shareholder of the Company (as
defined in the GEM Listing Rules).

The English translation of names or any descriptions in Chinese which are marked with
" is for identification purpose only.

Dr. Sung Tak Wing Leo (“Dr. Sung”), aged 56, is currently an executive
director, chief executive officer, joint company secretary and authorized
representative of the Company. Dr. Sung was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company on 23 December 2011, re-designated
as an executive director of the Company on 7 March 2014, was appointed as
a joint company secretary of the Company with effect from 24 December
2014 and was promoted from chief financial officer to the chief executive
officer of the Company with effect from 30 April 2015. Dr. Sung is also a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Dr. Sung is responsible for
the accounting and finance management, and business development as well
as company secretarial matters of the Group. Dr. Sung obtained a bachelor’s
degree of Commerce in Management and Marketing from Curtin University of
Technology in Australia in 2002 and also obtained a Master Degree of
Accountancy from Lingnan University in 2012. Dr. Sung has been awarded
the distinction of an honorary doctor in Business Administration from
American Purlinton University on 12 January 2013. Dr. Sung was admitted as
a member of Institute of Public Accountants, Australia, an associate of
Institute of Financial Accountants, UK and an associate member of
Association of International Accountants, UK in 2012, 2015 and 2016
respectively. From September 2004 to February 2014, Dr. Sung served as
the managing director and a responsible officer of King’s HT Securities
Limited, a licensed corporation under the SFO, and accumulated working in
the securities industry for about 12 years. Before entering into securities
industry, Dr. Sung has worked for several solicitors’ firms in Hong Kong for
about 17 years.
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Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Ye Jian (“Mr. Ye”), aged 49, was appointed as a non-executive director
of the Company on 26 August 2014. He is a businessman engaging in pawn
business and experienced in market analysis and risk assessment on pawn
transactions, and an investor experienced in market analysis and risk
assessment on business and securities investments for more than 14 years.
Mr. Ye is the sole owner of Metro Classic Limited, a company which is
beneficially interested in 400,800,000 ordinary shares of the Company,
representing approximately 28.67% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at 31 December 2016.

Mr. Liu Kam Lung (“Mr. Liu”), aged 53, previously an executive director of
the Company, was re-designated as a non-executive director of the Company
on 16 October 2014. Mr. Liu obtained a Diploma of Business Administration
from Hong Kong Shue Yan College (now known as Hong Kong Shue Yan
University) in 1990. Mr. Liu was admitted as an associate of The Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators of the United Kingdom, an
associate of The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries, an associate
of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow of The
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, a full member of the Society
of Registered Financial Planners and an associate of the Taxation Institute of
Hong Kong in 1993, 1994, 1995, 1999, 2009 and 2010 respectively. Mr. Liu
has over 25 years of experience in the financial industry. Mr. Liu was ceased
from office as the chief financial officer of Symphony Holdings Limited (stock
code: 1223.HK) with effect from 1 June 2016 and is currently the chief
executive officer of China Rise Finance Group Company Limited, a subsidiary
of Symphony Holdings Limited. Mr. Liu is also the independent non-executive
director of Pak Tak International Limited (stock code: 2668.HK) and the
independent non-executive director of Enterprise Development Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1808.HK). Mr. Liu was a non-executive director of Kith
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1201.HK) for the period from October 2010 to
June 2013. In addition, from March 2011 to October 2014, Mr. Liu was an
executive Director, finance director, company secretary and authorised
representative of the Company.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis (“Mr. Cheung”), aged 49, was appointed as
an independent non-executive director of the Company on 30 April 2015. He
is currently a financial controller and company secretary of Swift Express
Holding Limited (JIg & R iE1E A& B R A &]). He was a former independent non-
executive director (from November 2005 to October 2008), executive director
(from October 2008 to December 2013), chief financial officer (from October
2008 to December 2013) and company secretary (from October 2008 to
September 2014) of Peace Map Holding Limited (formerly known as Ming
Hing Waterworks Holdings Limited) (stock code: 0402.HK), a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He was also an independent non-
executive director of Powerwell Pacific Holdings Limited (stock code: 8265.
HK) from September 2010 to September 2014, a company listed on the
GEM. Prior to taking up the above-mentioned post of the Company, he was
the chief finance officer of the China division of Midland Holdings Limited (stock
code: 1200.HK) from November 2004 to November 2008, a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Cheung was a director of
XACT INTEGRATED MARKETING LIMITED, a private company incorporated
in Hong Kong, which was dissolved by deregistration pursuant to section
291AA of the then prevailing Companies Ordinance (Chapter 32 of the Laws
of Hong Kong) on 7 September 2007. To the best of the knowledge and
belief of Mr. Cheung, XACT INTEGRATED MARKETING LIMITED was
principally engaged in commercial advertising and had ceased business and
was solvent at the time of it being dissolved by deregistration. Mr. Cheung
has over 22 years of experience in accounting and financial management. He
obtained a master’s degree in commerce from the University of New South
Wales, Australia in April 1993 and a bachelor’'s degree in mechanical
engineering from the University of London, United Kingdom in August 1990.
Mr. Cheung is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and member of The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.

Mr. Chiu Yu Wang (“Mr. Chiu”), aged 57, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company on 17 February 2014.
He obtained a certificate in Business Studies (Banking) from Lee Wai Lee
Technical Institute of the Vocational Training Council Hong Kong in August
1983. He has over 20 years of marketing experience in banking industry.
Since May 2010, Mr. Chiu has become a shareholder and a director of
Sparkle Well Environmental Lighting Company Limited, which is principally
engaged in trading of environmental lighting products.

Mr. Ko Yin Wai (“Mr. Ko”), aged 54, was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company on 23 December 2011. He currently
is an enterprise consultant for Dongguan Changping Qiaohui Lipeng Plastic &
Hardware Manufacturing Company (5<% T8 ERBH 2B 1+ & M) and
a marketing strategic consultant for Shenzhen Lanshuo Communication
Equipment Company Limited (YT EEBAEAEERAF). Mr. Ko has
been working in the electronic consumer products industry for about 19
years.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

ESNSREBASNREE (18)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Li Kwei Chung (“Mr. Li”), aged 47, is one of the founders of the Group.
He was an Executive Director of the Company during the period from 15 June
2011 to 30 April 2015. He was the chief executive officer and compliance
officer of the Company until 30 April 2015. Mr. Li has been a director of a
subsidiary of the Company, MiniLogic Device Corporation Limited, since
September 2004 and is also a director of two of the Company’s subsidiaries.
He is responsible for daily operations, research and development activities,
procurement and quality control of the Group. Mr. Li obtained a bachelor’s
degree of Engineering and master’s degree of Science in Engineering from
the University of Hong Kong in 1992 and 1998 respectively. He has over 20
years of experience in the semiconductor field. Mr. Li was appointed as a
member of the Information and Communication Technology R&D Centre
Technology Review Panel of ASTRI for the years of 2011 to 2014. His
responsibilities includes advising ASTRI on improving the quality of ASTRI's
R&D projects in terms of technical merit as well as the commercialisation
prospects and technology transfer potential of the projects and assisting in
evaluating the effectiveness of funded projects in terms of assisting Hong
Kong and Pearl River Delta based companies’ to upgrade their technological
competitiveness.

Mr. Lam Nim Yin (“Mr. Lam”), aged 57, joined one subsidiary of the
Company, MiniLogic Device Corporation Limited, in March 2007 and is
currently the marketing manager. From June 2013 to January 2016, he was a
director of MiniLogic Device Corporation Limited. He is responsible for sales
and marketing activities, logistic and warehouse control. Mr. Lam has been
working in semiconductor industry for about 28 years. During the period from
1993 to 2009, he served as a director of a company engaging in trading of
electronics such as IC.

Mr. Liu Loi Ying (“Mr. Liu”), aged 39, joined one subsidiary of the
Company, MiniLogic Device Corporation Limited, in July 2003 and is currently
the engineering director and team leader in the R&D Department. He is
responsible for leading a team of engineers in R&D operations, and
supporting sales and marketing activities. Mr. Liu was an executive director of
the Company during the period from 15 June 2011 to 30 April 2013. He
obtained a bachelor’'s degree of Engineering in Computer Science and
Computer Engineering and a master’s degree of Science in IC Design
Engineering from The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in
2001 and 2005 respectively. He has been working in the semiconductor field
for about 14 years.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Mr. Ng King Hang (“Mr. Ng”), aged 33, is an associate of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and holds a Master of Science in
Accountancy from Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Ng has over 9
years of experience in the field of auditing and accounting. He was appointed
as an assistant financial controller of the Company with effect from 6 July
2015 and was promoted to financial controller of the Company with effect
from 1 April 2016. He was responsible for accounting and financial
management and company secretaries matter of the Group. He has served
as a joint company secretary and authorised representative of the Company
since 29 April 2016.

Mr. Yuen Wai Yiu Gary, aged 32, joined one subsidiary of the Company,
Easy Loan Finance Limited (“Easy Loan”), in 24 July 2015 and was appointed
as a director of Easy Loan on 26 February 2016 and is responsible for money
lending business and daily operations of Easy Loan. He obtained a bachelor’s
degree in Computing and Information Systems from Hong Kong Baptist
University in 2008 and a Master Degree of Accountancy from Lingnan
University in 2012. He has been working in the money lending business for
about 8 years.

Mr. Chung Pui Nam Roger (“Mr. Chung”), aged 49, the founder of one
subsidiary of the Company, Maximus Venture Holdings Limited and its
subsidiaries (“Maximus”), had over 31 years of experiences in the technical
and business consulting industry. Mr. Chung is responsible for business
strategy, overall financial and operational management of Maximus. Mr.
Chung held various technical and management positions in companies listed
in NASDAQ and in a multi-national airline company, expertise in software
design and development, system engineering and enterprise security
technologies solution areas. Mr. Chung holds EMBA and a computer
engineering degree from the Queen’s University of Brighton and Brighton
Polytechnic in year 1992.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Dr. Sung Tak Wing Leo and Mr. Ng King Hang are the Joint Company
Secretaries of the Company. For details of their profile, please refer to the
paragraphs headed “Executive Directors” and “Senior Management” under
this section.

COMPLIANCE OFFICER

Mr. Zhang Qing is the compliance officer of the Company. For details of his
profile, please refer to the paragraph headed “Executive Directors” under this
section.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFEHE

The directors (“Directors”) of Megalogic Technology Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) submit herewith their annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2016.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES, GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATION AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities and other particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in
note 1 to the consolidated financial statements. The Group acquired Maximus
Group, which operates an information security business in Hong Kong during
the year. Except the acquisition of Maximus Group, there were no other
significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the
year.

The analysis of geographical locations of the company and its subsidiaries for
the year are set out in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

The business review of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year can be
found in the section of “Management Discussion and Analysis” set out on
pages 8 to 17 of this annual report. This discussion forms parts of this
Directors’ Report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATION

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016 and the state
of the Company’s and the Group’s affairs as at that date are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 62 to 66 of this annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2016.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Details of the segment information of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2016 are set out in note 7 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group and
the Company during the year are set out in note 18 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year are set out in the “Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity” and
note 33(b)(ii) to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL

During the year ended 31 December 2016, 15,382,400 ordinary shares were
issued due to the exercise of share options under the Share Option Scheme.
Details of the abovementioned exercise of Share Option Scheme can be
found in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year are
set out in note 33(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company’s reserve available for distribution as at 31 December 2016
was approximately HK$139,763,000.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles, or the laws
of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares
on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last 5 financial years is set out on page 144 of this annual report.

EQUITY-LINK AGREEMENTS

Save for the share option scheme of the Group as set out in note 35 of the
consolidated financial statements, no equity-linked agreements were entered
into by the Group or existed during the year ended 31 December 2016.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
EFEWRS (B

(R
B AR S RO 2 D 4R O 7 ) 2 D 3 4

SRABREAMBREZ (RO RRBHE]
K2 Bt 5 33(o)(i) ©

RN

NEBE2016F12A31BLFERN ARER
HEET EIIE T AR R 1T (5 3517 T 15,382,400
REBE - A Lt 2 BRETEIITEZF
BU2HGRE W IBEHREM TS5 -

EHARABRARFANEHFBIANGA
B 7% ¥R = MY 3£ 33(a) ©

o 2 K f&

AN FR2016F 12 A31 B o H ok FEE S
%8 49 /139,763,000 TT °

BEBEER

ERYAFMERRBEZRAVERBEREBERK
SR E AR R BRI MR A BOR SR o

TEMBERE

AREBEZASENRFEEZEERNEERAE
BMESHNAFHE144E o

RERERR

BRERGATBHRERMISCERAEE 2B
R HEEF BN - REZ2016F 12 A31H L FE -
7N £ B A A T S OMRORE R 155 R ok R AR AR A AR
HEHipwmFE-

I
wn

Bibol0z LV HEBBNEEH



S
o

910Z L3OdI TVNNNY AILIWIT SONIATOH ADOTONHIIL JIDOTVOIW

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
ESEHRS (@)

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31 December
2016.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Qing (Chairman)
Dr. Sung Tak Wing Leo (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Ye Jian
Mr. Liu Kam Lung

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis
Mr. Chiu Yu Wang
Mr. Ko Yin Wai

ROTATION OF DIRECTORS IN THE
FORTHCOMING ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Pursuant to the Article 84 of the Articles, Mr. Zhang Qing, Mr. Liu Kam Lung
and Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis shall retire from office as Directors by
rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, have
agreed to offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICES CONTRACTS

Each of the independent non-executive Directors and non-executive Directors
is appointed for an initial term of one year commencing from their respective
dates of appointment and shall continue thereafter from year to year until
terminated by one month’s notice in writing served by either party on the
other party.
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No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract which is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN
RELATION TO THE COMPANY’S BUSINESS

No other transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to
the Group’s business to which the Company, its controlling shareholder or
any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a
Director of the Company and the director’s connected party had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year ended 31 December 2016.

PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Profiles of the Directors and senior management of the Group are set out on
pages 39 to 43 of this annual report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Remuneration

Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five individuals with highest
emoluments are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

Details of the retirement benefit scheme of the Group are set out in note 4(n)())
to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
EFEWRS (B

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2016, the interests and short position of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)), which
were required (a) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO), or (b) to be and were entered in the register required
to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or (c) as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Rules 5.46 to 5.68 of the GEM Listing Rules, were as follows:

Long and Short Position

Ordinary shares and underlying share of the Company
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Approximate
percentage of

Number of the total issued
Company’s issued Total shares capital
ordinary shares held interests of the Company
Name of Directors Capacity/Nature of interests (Note 1) (Note 1) (Note 2)
A AR RN
ERTEER ERTRELY
ROEAE Eaag MENEDE
BEsps g £:1:3-1 (BF&E1) (BtaE1) (KtaE2)
Executive Directors
HITES
Mr. Zhang Qing Personal interest 4,000,000(L) 4,000,000(L) 0.29%
RELAE AR 4,000,000(&F) 4,000,000(%F)
Dr. Sung Tak Wing Leo Personal interest 10,000,000(L) 10,000,000(L) 0.72%
RIB&EELT A= 10,000,000(%F) 10,000,000(%F)
Non-executive Director
FHTES
Mr. Ye Jian Interest of a controlled corporation 400,800,000(L)(S) 400,800,000(L)(S) 28.67%
(Note 3)
EEEA ZEGEE R 400,800,000(8F)(%)  400,800,000(4F)(#%)
(B &E3)
Independent Non-executive Director
BYKHTES
Mr. Chiu yu Wang Personal interest 442,400(L) 442,400(L) 0.03%
TR EE (BN 3 442,400(4F) 442,400(4F)



Notes:

1. The letter “L” denotes long positions in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company and the letter “S” denotes short positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company.

2. The percentages are calculated on the basis of 1,397,782,400 ordinary shares of
the Company in issues as at 31 December 2016.

3. Mr. Ye Jian is the beneficial owner of all of the issued share capital of Metro
Classic Limited, and is therefore deemed to be interested in the 400,800,000
ordinary shares of the Company in which Metro Classic Limited is beneficially
interested. As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 3 January
2017, Metro Classic Limited has pledged the 400,800,000 ordinary shares of the
Company in favour of China Rise Finance Company Limited as security for a
term loan facility provided to Metro Classic Limited. China Rise Finance Company
Limited, and thus it has security interest over these shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2016, so far as is known to the
Directors or Chief Executive Officer of the Company, none of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company had any interests or short positions in
any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which (a)
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO), or (b) were required, pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or (c) were required,
pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.68 of the GEM Listing Rules to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND

UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

FERREREMATAERD
iﬂzﬁ&ﬁﬁﬁﬂi MRS R
%R

As at 31 December 2016, so far as is known to the Directors or Chief
Executive Officer of the Company, the following persons or corporation (other
than a director or chief executive of the Company) had interests or short
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to 336 of the SFO:

BLAR R A E ] E Bk 1T AR E FT AR 2016 4
12A318 AR AIREFESH K HE KHI 5336
BEEMNELMESE U TATHAR(BRA
RAEIMEZTAESTHRABINEE AR AR
M RBEERMDAERIXE

Long and Short Positions HAEARERE
Ordinary shares of the Company AARWEBRRSG
Total
number of Approximate
the Company’s percentage of
issued ordinary total issued
shares held share capital of
Name of shareholders Capacity/Nature of interests (Note 1) the Company
ZIESE YN ﬁ
ERITEBE HAEATS BT
ik %{ MR A B W
BRRHEE BB B REEHE (PffaE1) BHAE
Champsword Limited Beneficial owner (Note 2) 278,000,000(L) 19.89%
BHEAAMEE2) 278,000,000(4F)
Lau Mo Interest of a controlled corporation (Note 2) 278,000,000(L) 19.89%
iy PR E B (M EE2) 278,000,000(%F)
Metro Classic Limited Beneficial owner (Note 3) 400,800,000(L)(S) 28.67%
BHEAAMEE3) 400,800,000(47 ) (%)
Mr. Ye Jian Interest of a controlled corporation (Note 3) 400,800,000(L)(S) 28.67%
S AR A B R s (P FE3) 400,800,000(4F) (%)
China Rise Finance Company Limited Beneficial owner (Notes 3 and 4) 400,800,000(L) 28.67%
EEZMHBERAF Ex#ma A(WiE3ke) 400,800,000(#+)
China Rise Finance Group Company Interest of a controlled corporation (Note 4) 400,800,000(L) 28.67%
Limited
EEeRmEEEGRA 2HlEE s (5T 4) 400,800,000(#F)
Jin Dragon Holdings Limited Interest of a controlled corporation (Note 4) 400,800,000(L) 28.67%
P A E (T aE4) 400,800,000(#+)
Essential Holdings Limited Interest of a controlled corporation (Note 4) 400,800,000(L) 28.67%
2HlEE s (5T 4) 400,800,000(#F)
Cosmo Group Holdings Limited Interest of a controlled corporation (Note 4) 400,800,000(L) 28.67%
REGEEE R (MEE4) 400,800,000(#+)
Symphony Holdings Limited Interest of a controlled corporation (Note 4) 400,800,000(L) 28.67%
MEEBEBERR ZHlEE R (5T 4) 400,800,000(#F)



Notes:

The letter “L” denotes long positions in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company and the letter “S” denotes short positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company.

Mr. Lau Mo is the beneficial owner of all of the issued share capital of
Champsword Limited, and is therefore deemed to be interested in the
278,000,000 ordinary shares in which Champsword Limited is beneficially
interested.

Mr. Ye Jian is the beneficial owner of all the issued share capital of Metro Classic
Limited, and is therefore deemed to be interested in the 400,800,000 ordinary
shares of the Company in which Metro Classic Limited is beneficially interested.
As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 3 January 2017, Metro
Classic Limited has pledged the 400,800,000 ordinary shares of the Company in
favour of China Rise Finance Company Limited as security for a term loan facility
provided to Metro Classic Limited. China Rise Finance Company Limited, and
thus it has security interest over these shares.

China Rise Finance Company Limited is wholly-owned by China Rise Finance
Group Company Limited. China Rise Finance Group Company Limited is wholly-
owned by Jin Dragon Holdings Limited which in turn is wholly-owned by
Essential Holdings Limited. Essential Holdings Limited is wholly-owned by
Cosmo Group Holdings Limited which in turn is wholly-owned by Symphony
Holdings Limited. Thus China Rise Finance Group Company Limited, Jin Dragon
Holdings Limited, Essential Holdings Limited, Cosmo Group Holdings Limited
and Symphony Holdings Limited are deemed to be interested in the 400,800,000
ordinary shares of the Company in which China Rise Finance Company Limited
has security interest.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2016, so far as is known to the
Directors and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and based on the
public records filed on the website of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing
Limited and records kept by the Company, no other persons or corporations
(other than Directors and Chief Executive Officer of the Company) had
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company

as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under section
336 of the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
EFEWRS (B

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases attributable to
the major customers and suppliers respectively during the year are as follows:

TBREFRHER

AEBWNETERP MR D B EMEFAH
ERRENERET

Sales Purchases

HE HEE

The largest customer ISPNCYS 9% N/A 73
Five largest customers in aggregate AAREFEF 28% N/A T3
The largest supplier =AM ER N/A “NiE A3 32%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate AEREERAT N/A “iE 90%

Save as disclosed in this annual report and to the best knowledge of the
Directors, none of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholders
(which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital) has any interest in the Group’s five largest
customers or suppliers during the year ended 31 December 2016.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Significant related party transactions entered into by the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2016 are disclosed in note 39 to the consolidated
financial statements, which do not fall under the definition of “connected
transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” in Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicity available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual report, the
Company has maintained a sufficient public float as required under the GEM
Listing Rules.
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INTEREST IN A COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 December 2016, none of the Directors, the
controlling shareholders of the Company and their respective close associates
(as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) had any interest in any business which
competes or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with the business of
the Group or any other conflicts of interest with the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has taken out and maintained directors’ liability insurance
which provides appropriate cover for the Directors and directors of the
subsidiaries of the Group.

At no time during the year 2016 and up to the date of this Directors’ Report,
there was or is, any permitted indemnity provision being in force for the
benefit of any of the Directors and directors of the subsidiaries of the Group.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of event after the reporting period are set out in note 41 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

A corporate governance report is set out on pages 18 to 38 of this annual
report. Mr. Zhang Qing whose biographical details are set out on page 39 of
this report, is the Compliance Officer of the Company and Dr. Sung Tak Wing
Leo and Mr. Ng King Hang whose biographical details are set out on page 39
and 43 of this annual report respectively, are the Joint Company Secretaries
of the Company.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the Company prepared
in accordance with Appendix 20 to the GEM Listing Rules will be published
within three months after the publication of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
EFEWRS (B

AUDITOR

Graham H.Y. Chan & Co. was re-appointed as the auditors of the Company
and its subsidiaries at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 30
April 2014. On 31 October 2014, Graham H.Y. Chan & Co. resigned as an
auditor of the Company and its subsidiaries. JH CPA Alliance Limited was
appointed as an auditor of the Company and its subsidiaries by the Board of
Directors of the Company on 5 December 2014 to fill the casual vacancy
following the resignation of Graham H.Y. Chan & Co..

Save as disclosed above, there is no other change in the auditors of the
Company in any of the preceding 3 years. The financial statements have been
audited by JH CPA Alliance Limited.

A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company to re-appoint JH CPA Alliance Limited as the auditor of the

Company.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. Zhang Qing
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2017

¥ By
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

JH CPA Alliance Limited
BE UG EHAA ML

Certified Public Accountants

& X7 % 26 ¥ &5

BHBARRYERALEEIN

R T CARTHTOLE

Unit 701, 7/F, Tower A, New East Ocean Centre
9 Science Museum Road

Tsim Sha Tsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong

E# Email: info@jhcpa.com.hk

TO THE MEMBERS OF
MEGALOGIC TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Megalogic
Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 62 to 143, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2016, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2016,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
18 X7 1% S8 ¥ & (18)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters

FHEEFXEER

MREZEFEA/BSFINERHAE S ERA
Hﬂfﬁ,m/\ﬁﬂ‘&i&%qﬂrixﬁ’]$lﬁ EER
ERERGAVMBERREENSEHEEM
ERER MIAeRtFEREFERER -

BREZER

Accounting for business combination
Refer to note 36(c) to the consolidated financial statements

In May 2016, the Group completed the acquisition of Maximus Venture
Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (the “Maximus Group”). Due to the
complexity of and significant judgments and assumptions involved in the
purchase price allocation for the acquisition, we have identified it as a key
audit matter.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

We have clarified with the management for any existence of intangible
assets and purchase price allocation upon the acquisition; and

We audited the acquired assets and assumed liabilities at the acquisition
date and challenged the management’s assumptions and justifications for
recognising the goodwill.

Impairment assessment of goodwill
Refer to note 19 to the consolidated financial statements

In respect of the goodwill amounting to HK$27,280,000 arose from
acquisition of Maximus Group, the management concluded that there was
no impairment of it. For the impairment assessment, it involved the
significant management assumptions and judgments with respect to
underlying cash flows, discount rates and future growth rates for calculation
of value in use of the cash generated unit.

Given that significant level of the goodwill, we have identified it as a key
audit matter.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Our audit procedures in relation to the impairment assessment of goodwill
included:

° Evaluation of the independent valuer's competence, capabilities and
objectivity;

° Assessing the cash flow projections and challenging the assumptions
in comparison with recent performance; and

° Challenging the assumptions and methodologies used by the valuer.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

18 X7 i% 6 ¥ & (48)

Key audit matters BREREE
Impairment assessment of loans receivables JE W & 36t B SR A

Refer to note 24 to the consolidated financial statements

As at 31 December 2016, the Group had loans receivables of approximately
HK$ 255,954,000.

In exercising impairment assessment of the loans receivables, the
management applied own judgment and used subjective assumptions.
It includes assessing customers with default risk, identifying indication
of impairment based on creditworthiness of customers and the level of
collaterals in proportion to the outstanding receivables balances. Estimates
are used in assessing the recoverable amount of the collateral. Since the
loans receivables represented significant amounts of the total assets, we
have identified it as a key audit matter.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
We assessed controls over the approval, recording and monitoring of loans
receivables, and evaluated the methodologies, inputs and assumptions

used by the Group in impairment assessment.

We assessed factors for determining whether any indication of impairment,
which include:

o Checking subsequent settlement of loans receivables; and

° Checking historical repayment record to ascertain whether any
likelihood of default.

We sent audit confirmation letters to majority of borrowers to ascertain the
existence and accuracy of the outstanding loans receivables.

B 2R A MK M 24
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
18 X7 1% S8 ¥ & (18)

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the annual report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditors’ report
thereon (“Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
Other Information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so, consider
whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other Information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND
THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
18 X7 1% S8 ¥ & (18)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Chan Chi Kwong, Dickson.

JH CPA Alliance Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 24 March 2017

CHAN Chi Kwong, Dickson
Practicing Certificate Number: P04383
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CONSOLI DATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

noBmkHE

HE2016F12A31BILEE

{thZENER

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

2016 2015
2016 £ 20154
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B & FHET FET
Revenue &= 8 60,752 29,244
Cost of sales and services $HE KBRS A A (19,760) (20,024)
Gross profit EF 40,992 9,220
Other income HAb A 9 46 1238
Other gains and losses E b Uk 7= & B 18 10 126 (110)
Staff costs BTRA (14,164) (10,659
Depreciation and amortisation & K (1,829) (1,449
Operating lease rental — land and buildings KEHENRS — T REETF (2,201) (1,230)
Other operating expenses EmEems (9,139) (4,753)
Finance cost WEER 11 (354) -
Profit/(loss) before income tax BRATBRATEF,(EBE) 13,477 (8,858)
Income tax expense Frisfif = 14 (2,885) -
Profit/(loss) for the year FREAN(EHIE) 10,592 (8,858)
Other comprehensive expense, Htt2EBEX
net of income tax (HIBRFTEHR)
ltems that may be subsequently HEgr R E2EBEZ
reclassified to profit or loss: B/E :
Exchange differences arising on BREBINEBEELEZ
translation of foreign operations [ 5 =58 (20) (24)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) FRATEWE(BX)
for the year PR 10,572 (8,882)
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to: EEERZRN(EE) :
Owners of the Company AAREER A 8,898 (8,858)
Non-controlling interests FE 1 AR = 1,694 -
10,592 (8,858)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) EEEREZEKE (X
for the year attributable to: #E .
Owners of the Company ZiIN/NEIE P =N 8,878 (8,882)
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR M AR 1,694 —
10,572 (8,882)
HK cents HK cents
AL Al
Earnings/(loss) per share attributable to EATRBEBEAEESR 17
owners of the Company BR(F8)
Basic and diluted EARKREE 0.64 (1.87)




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

O M ISR iR &

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2016
20164912 A31H

2016 2015
2016 20154F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 3E FHET FAET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE MEE 18 3,795 3,103
Goodwill ma 19 27,280 —
Intangible asset mvEE 20 1,822 -
Loans receivables TEWE R 24 5,216 6,101
Total non-current assets BWERBEE 38,113 9,204
Current assets REEE
Inventories TE 22 4,432 5,152
Trade receivables EUE 5B R 23 9,851 2,191
Loans receivables FEWE K 24 250,738 80,319
Deposits and prepayments e RFERIE 25 2,004 1,157
Bank balances and cash RITHEBER S 26 8,005 188,739
Total current assets ERBEE 275,030 277,558
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade payables ERE SRR 27 543 928
Other payables and accruals Hfih BN N B 5T RIE 28 3,415 1,233
Amount due to a non-controlling interest JET — I B A Rl 2 — (AL IEFE A%
shareholder of a subsidiary HEERRZRIE 29 5,258 —
Tax payables FE A i IR 1,527 -
Provision B 30 123 -
Total current liabilities HWRBERE 10,866 2,161
Net current assets BARABEE 264,164 275,397
Total assets less current liabilities BEERASHERE 302,277 284,601
Non-current liability EREBEE
Deferred tax liabilities RELEFHIEEE 32 342 —
Net assets FBEE 301,935 284,601
Capital and reserves EXRREE
Share capital A% 2 33(a) 139,778 138,240
Reserves 1 33(b) 160,283 146,361
Equity attributable to owners of the Company A~ A F1# A A JE(L HE 25 300,061 284,601
Non-controlling interests JEERER 1,874 -
Total equity ERBE 301,935 284,601

The consolidated financial statements on pages 62 to 143 were approved
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 24 March 2017 and

signed on its behalf by:

ZHANG Qing
RE

Director

EBEE

FE2E143E MR A MK HRERE R2017F3 A
AHEESSHEREETIE YHTINE

EREREE:

SUNG Tak Wing Leo

[e==]

RIS

”

Director

EE

o
w
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

o O\ F35 € 454
O REEaE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
HE2016F 12831 B IEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

EATHEE AESL
(Accumulated
Share losses)/ Non-
Share Share  Merger option Exchange retained Sub-  controlling Total
capital premium  reserve reserve reserve profits total interests equity
(Rt BB/
RE ROEE AO6HEFE BRERE ELGH REBH N OFEREE EZAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
TExT TFErT FER FET FET TET TFER TET TFiER
At 1 January 2015 ®H2015F1 A18 28,800 34,277 17,941 - 4 (5,945) 75,077 — 75,077
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - (8,858) (8,858) - (8,858)
Other comprehensive expense FRHEME2EMEX:
for the year:
Exchange differences arising on REBIEBEEZ
translation of foreign operations EXRZE®E - - - - (24) - (24) - (24)
Total comprehensive expense for FREERASGRE
the year - - - - (24) (8858  (8,882) - 88
Issue of shares upon placing REETRG
(Note 33(a)() (M 3£33(2)) 5760 13,824 - - - — 10584 - 19584
Issue of shares pursuant to open offer 1R 15 A F 2 &
(Note 33(a)(i) BIIR M
(PH 3% 33(a)(i)) 103,680 103,680 . — — — 207,360 — 207,360
Expenses incurred in connection with 48 3% 17 B 7 2 4 £
the issue of shares during the year 53 - (8,538) - - - - (8,538) — (8,538)
At 31 December 2015 and R2015F12A318 K
1 January 2016 201651518 138,240 143243 17,941 - 20) (14,803) 284,601 — 284,601
Profit for the year FNaF - - - - - 8,898 8,898 1,694 10,592
Other comprehensive expense FRHEMLZE
for the year: X
Exchange differences arising on REGNEBEELZ
translation of foreign operations ERES - - - - (20) - (20) - (20)
Total comprehensive (expense)/income R 2@ (F %),/
for the year I 55 1 58 - - - - (20) 8,898 8,878 1,694 10,572
Recognition of equity-settled share- BRABRELER D
based payments (Note 12) BEAGESR) - - - 968 - - 968 - 968
Issue of shares upon exercise of TEERLERE
share options granted (Note 33()(ii) 277 i% {7
(P % 33(a)(ii)) 1,538 5,044 - (968) - - 5,614 - 5,614
Non-controling interests arising on EBAWEEL
business combination (Note 36(d)) JEIR IR S
(Fff 5£:36(0)) - - - - - - - 180 180
At 31 December 2016 H2016FE12H31H 139,778 148,287 17,941 - (40) (5,905) 300,061 1,874 301,935




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
rﬂ' (=) IE ﬁ /M % ?‘%

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
HZE2016F12A31AILEE

2016 2015
2016 20154
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
B & FHET FHET
Cash flows from operating activities RELETBHZHERE
Profit/(loss) before income tax B P88 AT (B 18) 13,477 (8,858)
Adjustments for: KRBT ZE :
Bank interest income AT E WA (6) (14)
Depreciation of property, plant and ME BEMRERE
equipment 1,767 1,449
Amortisation of Intangible asset EIEEHH 62 -
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME  BEMKRE
equipment, net B8 F 5 - 6
Provision for slow-moving and obsolete R IERNTERE
inventories 259 1,176
Gain on disposal of trading securities PEEZEZEHF K& - (64)
Accumulated interest on promissory note EHEE 7 25T E 354 —
Walive of accumulated interest on RNeEHER 2 RetF 8
promissory note (354) -
Equity-settled share-based payments EiEEER DR 968 —
Operating cash flows before EEESRPALEESRE
working capital changes 16,527 (6,309)
Decrease in inventories FERD 461 2,158
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables FE U B 5 B 3k (48 h0) R (5,603) 1,677
Increase in loans receivables JRE L & R4 hn (169,534) (86,218)
(Increase)/decrease in deposits and =& RIENMFRIEGE M), RE A
prepayments (406) 624
Decrease in trade payables e B 5 BRFOR D (647) (1,174)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables and H b A R B RIAE N
accruals O’ 2) 943 (713)
Increase in amount due to a non-controlling B —FMWB ARz —fL
interest shareholder of a subsidiary FEE R R S IR B 2 R IE I hn 1,589 —
Cash used in operations KEFMBAZRS (156,670) (89,951)
Income tax paid ERAER (941) -
Net cash used in operating activities ARKE TS 2 FRE (157,611) (89,951)
Cash flows from investing activities RKERETH2HERE
Payment for purchase of property, BEWE BEEREZ
plant and equipment 3% (1,598) (794)
Acquisition of subsidiaries g 1P NE 36(e) (25,241) -
Additions to development cost of intangible A BT R A Z 1N
asset 20 (1,884)
Proceeds from disposal of trading securities HMEEESEBHFZEHRE - 3,874
Bank interest received B U ERIT R B 9 6 14
Net cash (used in)/generated from (AR HkBEREEDH =
investing activities FRE (28,717) 3,094
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

GZBREREER (18)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
HE2016F12A31BILEE

2016 2015
2016 20154
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
B & FE R FAET

Cash flows from financing activities REBMETH2HERE
Issue of shares upon placing B & 1T ) 33(a)(i) - 19,584
Issue of shares pursuant to open offer BIEAFHEBEERTRMG 33(a)(ii) - 207,360
Expenses incurred in connection with MBEITROEENFEZ

the issue of shares - (8,538)
Issue of shares upon exercise of share TEEEEBERERITRG

options granted 5,614 —
Net cash generated from financing REMETHZ2FRSE

activities 5,614 218,406
Net (decrease)/increase in cashandcash BEERESZEYF

equivalents (R4, 18t (180,714) 131,549
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January M1B1ENBERBESEEY 188,739 57,214
Effects of foreign exchange rate changes, SNEE XS EH L ¥

net (20) (24)
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December R12 831 EHNBEERBELZEEY 8,005 188,739
Analysis of balances of cash and cash ReRBESEENEHR DN

equivalents:

Bank balances and cash RITEHRERS 8,005 188,739




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 31 March
2011, as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law Cap. 22 of the Cayman Islands. The address of its
registered office is located at 190 Elgin Avenue, George Town, Grand
Cayman KY1-9005, Cayman Islands. The address of its principal place
of business is located at Suite 2101, 21/F, Chinachem Century Tower,
178 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries (together with the Company referred to as
the “Group”) are (1) the provision of integrated circuit solutions and the
design, development and sales of integrated circuits; (2) money lending
business in Hong Kong through the provision of unsecured and
secured loans to customers, including individual and corporations
under the provisions of the Money Lenders Ordinance; and (3) the
provision of total solutions for information security services, including
security assessment, consulting, testing, monitoring and training as well
as system integration services of information security business. The
details of particulars of subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note
21 to the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollar (“HK$”), which is the same as the functional currency of the
Company, and all value are rounded to the nearest thousand except
when otherwise indicated.

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
These consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“GEM Listing Rules”). A summary of the significant
accounting policies adopted by the Group is set out in note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements below.

HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are first
effective or available for early adoption for the current accounting period
of the Group. Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these new and revised HKFRSs to the extent that they
are relevant to the Group for the current and prior accounting periods
reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

%n O R 15 ¥ % BT 5E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
HZE2016F12A31AILEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

£ 6 B 75 R R BT 5F (48)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
HE2016F12A31BILEE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HKFRSs

(a)

(b)

New and revised HKFRSs adopted

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and
revised HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA that are relevant to its
operations and effective for its accounting year beginning on 1
January 2016. The adoption of these new and revised HKFRSs
has had no significant financial effect on these financial
statements.

Issued but not yet effective new and revised
HKFRSs

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs that have been issued but not yet effective in these
financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement
of Share-based Payment
Transactions®

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments with HKFRS 4

Insurance Contracts®

Amendments to HKFRS 4

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments®

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011)

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers®
HKFRS 16 Leases®

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative'

Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax

Assets for Unrealised Losses'
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HKFRSs (Continued)

(b)

Issued but not yet effective new and revised
HKFRSs (Continued)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what
the impact of these new and revised HKFRSs is expected to be
in the period of initial application. So far the Group has identified
some aspects of the new HKFRSs which may have a significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements. Further details
of the expected impacts are discussed below. As the Group has
not completed its assessment, further impacts may be identified
in due course and will be taken into consideration when
determining whether to adopt any of these new and revised
HKFRSs before their effective date and which transitional
approach to take, where there are alternative approaches
allowed under the new HKFRSs.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

In September 2014, the HKICPA issued the final version of
HKFRS 9, bringing together all phases of the financial instruments
project to replace HKAS 39 and all previous versions of HKFRS 9.
The standard introduces new requirements for classification and
measurement, impairment and hedge accounting. The Group
expects to adopt HKFRS 9 from 1 January 2018. The Group is
currently assessing the impact of the standard.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
£ 6 B 75 R R BT 5F (48)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
HE2016F12A31BILEE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HKFRSs (Continued)

(b)

Issued but not yet effective new and revised
HKFRSs (Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

HKFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model to account for
revenue arising from contracts with customers. Under HKFRS
15, revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. The
principles in HKFRS 15 provide a more structured approach for
measuring and recognising revenue. The standard also
introduces extensive qualitative and quantitative disclosure
requirements, including disaggregation of total revenue,
information about performance obligations, changes in contract
asset and liability account balances between periods and key
judgments and estimates. The standard will supersede all current
revenue recognition requirements under HKFRSs. In June 2016,
the HKICPA issued amendments to HKFRS 15 to address the
implement issues on identifying performance obligations,
application guidance on principal versus agent and licences of
intellectual property, and transition. The amendments are also
intended to help ensure a more consistent application when
entities adopt HKFRS 15 and decrease the cost and complexity
of applying the standard. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 15
on 1 January 2018 and is currently assessing the impact of
HKFRS 15 upon adoption.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HKFRSs (Continued)

(b)

Issued but not yet effective new and revised
HKFRSs (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases, HK(IFRIC)-Int 4
Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, HK(SIC)-
Int 15 Operating Leases — Incentives and HK(SIC)-Int 27
Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal
Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the principles for the
recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases
and requires lessees to recognise assets and liabilities for most
leases. The standard includes two recognition exemptions for
lessees — leases of low-value assets and short-term leases. At
the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognise a
liability to make lease payments (i.e.,
asset representing the right to use the underlying asset during
the lease term (i.e., the right-of-use asset). The right-of-use asset
is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses unless the right-of-use asset meets
the definition of investment property in HKAS 40. The lease
liability is subsequently increased to reflect the interest on the
lease liability and reduced for the lease payments. Lessees will
be required to separately recognise the interest expense on the
lease liability and the depreciation expense on the right-of-use
asset. Lessees will also be required to remeasure the lease
liability upon the occurrence of certain events, such as change in
the lease term and change in future lease payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate used to determine those
payments. Lessees will generally recognise the amount of the
remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-
of-use asset. Lessor accounting under HKFRS 16 is substantially
unchanged from the accounting under HKAS 17. Lessors will
continue to classify all leases using the same classification
principle as in HKAS 17 and distinguish between operating
leases and finance leases. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS
16 on 1 January 2019 and is currently assessing the impact of
HKFRS 16 upon adoption.

the lease liability) and an
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
£ 6 B 75 R R BT 5F (48)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
HE2016F12A31BILEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(@)

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2016 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements is the historical cost
convention.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgments, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form
the basis of making the judgments about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgments made by management in the application of HKFRSs
that have significant effect on the financial statements and major
sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(b) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2016. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority
of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers
all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has
power over an investee, including:

(@  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c)  the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
£ 6 B 75 R R BT 5F (48)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
HE2016F12A31BILEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(b) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

()

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of
control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the
assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (i) the
carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (i) the
cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i) the
fair value of any investment retained and (jii) any resulting surplus
or deficit in profit or loss The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on
the same basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date
fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree
that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition
date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in
host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value
and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(c)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum
of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value
of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at
31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (“CGUs”),
or groups of CGUs, that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other
assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or
groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the CGU (group of CGUs) to which the goodwill relates. Where
the recoverable amount of the CGU (group of CGUs) is less than
the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a CGU (or group of CGUs)
and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the
goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain
or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these
circumstances is measured based on the relative value of the
operation disposed of and the portion of the CGU retained.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

£ 6 B 75 R R BT 5F (48)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
HE2016F12A31BILEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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(Continued)

(d) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings and leasehold
land (classified as finance leases) held for use in the production
or supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes,
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost, less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit
or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated at
rates sufficient to write off their cost over their estimated useful
lives on a straight line basis. The principal annual rates used for
this purpose during the reporting period are as follows:

Computer equipment 30%
Instruments 20%
Office equipment 30%
Motor vehicle 30%
Furniture and fixtures 20%

Leasehold improvement Over the lease term

The estimated useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and
equipment is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised
in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(e)

Intangible asset

Internally-generated intangible asset — research and
development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in
the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development
activities (or from the development phase of an internal project) is
recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been
demonstrated:

—  the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset
so that it will be available for use or sale;

—  the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or
sell it;

—  the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

— how the intangible asset will generate probable future
economic benefits;

—  the availability of adequate technical, financial and other
resources to complete the development and to use or sell
the intangible asset; and

—  the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable
to the intangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible
asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when
the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed
above. Where no internally generated intangible asset can be
recognised, development expenditure is recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which it is incurred. Subsequent to initial
recognition, internally-generated intangible asset is carried at
cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses (if any).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
£ 6 B 75 R R BT 5F (48)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
HE2016F12A31BILEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(f)

Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its non-financial assets (other than goodwill,
inventories and contract assets) to determine whether there is
any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs.
When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual CGU,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of CGU for
which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.

Intangible asset with definite useful lives is tested for impairment
whenever there is an indication that it may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which
the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or CGU) is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or
the CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or CGU) is increased to the revised estimate
of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset (or CGU) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss
is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(9) Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the
principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset
or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must
be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability
is measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that
market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in
its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end
of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

£ 6 B 75 R R BT 5F (48)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
HE2016F12A31BILEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(h)

(i)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated on the first-in-first-out basis and
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition. Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion
and costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold,
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down
of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of inventories

the carrying amount of those

are recognised as an expense in the period the write-down or
loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down of
inventories is recognised as a reduction in the amount of
inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the
reversal occurs.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair
value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

()  Financial assets

Financial assets of the Group are classified into the
following specified categories: “financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss” (“FVTPL”) and “loans and
receivables”. The classification depends on the nature and
purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the
time of initial recognition. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

() Financial instruments (Continued)

(ii)

(i

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt
instruments other than these financial assets classified as
at FVTPL.

Financial asset at FVTPL

Financial asset is classified as at FVTPL when the financial
asset is either held for trading or it is designated as at
FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling it in the near term; or

. on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
fm G B HS R & b 5 (78)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

HE2016F12A31BILEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

0]

Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Financial asset at FVTPL (Continued)

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading
may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that
would otherwise arise; or

the financial asset forms part of a group of financial
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is
managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair
value basis, in accordance with the Group’s
documented risk management or investment
strategy, and information about the grouping is
provided internally on that basis; or

it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement permits
the entire combined contract to be designated as at
FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any
gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or
loss incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the
financial asset and is included in the “other gains and
losses” line item. Fair value is determined in the manner
described in note 4(g) to the consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

() Financial instruments (Continued)

(iv)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. Loans and receivables (including trade
receivables and bank balances and cash) are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
any impairment.

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate, except for short-term receivables where the
recognition of interest would be immaterial.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets other than those at FVTPL are assessed
for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting
period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired
when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the
financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the
investment have been affected.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

° breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments; or

° it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

° the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
£ 6 B 75 R R BT 5F (48)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
HE2016F12A31BILEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

0]

Financial instruments (Continued)

(v)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a
collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a
portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past
experience of collecting payments, an increase in the
number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the
average credit period and observable changes in national
or local economic conditions that correlate with default on
receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount
of the impairment loss recognised is the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current
market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such
impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent periods
(see the accounting policy below).

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount
is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When
a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written
off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously written off are credited against the
allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the
allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

() Financial instruments (Continued)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to
an event occurring after the impairment was recognised,
the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed
through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount
of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed
does not exceed what the amortised cost would have
been had the impairment not been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue
or cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities of the Group (including trade and other
payables) are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

£ 6 B 75 R R BT 5F (48)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
HE2016F12A31BILEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

() Financial instruments (Continued)

(vii)

(viii)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to
the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest
basis.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to
control the transferred asset, the Group continues to
recognise the asset to the extent of its continuing
involvement and recognises an associated liability. If the
Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable and the
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

0]

()

Financial instruments (Continued)

(viii) Derecognition (Continued)

On derecognition of a financial asset other than in its
entirety, the Group allocates the previous carrying amount
of the financial asset between the part it continues to
recognise, and the part it no longer recognises on the
basis of the relative fair values of those parts on the date of
the transfer. The difference between the carrying amount
allocated to the part that is no longer recognised and the
sum of the consideration received for the part no longer
recognised and any cumulative gain or loss allocated to it
that had been recognised in other comprehensive income
is recognised in profit or loss. A cumulative gain or loss
that had been recognised in other comprehensive income
is allocated between the part that continues to be
recognised and the part that is no longer recognised on
the basis of the relative fair values of those parts.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three
months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are
repayable on demand form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management are also included as a component of cash and
cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated statement
of cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
£ 6 B 75 R R BT 5F (48)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
HE2016F12A31BILEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(k) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event and it
is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of
the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end
of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash
flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a
provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that
reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable
can be measured reliably.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will
be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for
the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period and any adjustment to tax payable in
respect of pervious years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

()

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and
taxable temporary differences respectively, being the differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also
arise from unused tax losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities,
and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can
be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may
support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those that will arise
from the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences,
provided those differences relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either
in the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising
from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. The
same criteria are adopted when determining whether existing
taxable temporary differences support the recognition of deferred
tax assets arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is,
those differences are taken into account if they relate to the same
taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected
to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit
can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and
liabilities are those temporary differences arising from goodwiill
not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided
they are not part of a business combination), and temporary
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent
that, in the case of taxable differences, the group controls the
timing of the reversal and it is probable that the differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible
differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in the
future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

£ 6 B 75 R R BT 5F (48)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
HE2016F12A31BILEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

()

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such
reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements
therein, are presented separately from each other and are not
offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities,
and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the
company or the group has the legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
company or the group intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

— in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority
on either:

—  the same taxable entity; or

—  different taxable entities, which, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities
or assets are expected to be settled or recovered,
intend to realise the current tax assets and settle the
current tax liabilites on a net basis or realise the
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

4., FESTHER @

()

P8 % @)

AEEREBEREHRRIELE
MIBEEZREE- - T BRI
BRHAZERD G M A KRR
ZHBEME  RELEHAEE 2R
HEESHE  BEMBRARLE
BRAZERB N  BREMER
FRME e

BIHIMREE R B AR R EE B 5
BEBFIR AT BIH R
BELERBAEESEARABRAE
BB A OX AJ 5R i 11T HE A A BD
MEEERHNMHRBRER I
BREUTHHEEREZBERT 7

AoRI A MRER ARG

- HHEBRBEEERAEE AR

ﬂiﬁﬁl%ﬂﬁﬁﬁgﬁ

BE IABERAZEER
BEZAEE X

- EERBBEENBGE EF
BERBEBLARR BB
R A THEF -2
PreBiaR

- FE-ERHRERE: =X

- TRZERNER-E
LERBFIERRSE
BB A RREEHR A
BEFEREIANEER
ETREEER AW E 2
HEAR RFREER
REVEIMIEE EMBE
BB E A E - KR
BRZEENBEZA

g o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(m) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
goods sold or services provided in the normal course of
business, net of returns and discounts. Provided it is probable
that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue
and costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue is
recognised in profit or loss as follows:

(i)

(i)

Revenue from the sales of goods
Revenue is recognised when goods are delivered at the
customers’ designated location which is taken to be the
point in time when the customer has accepted the goods
and the related risks and rewards of ownership. Revenue
is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Revenue from fixed-price contracts

Revenue from fixed-price contracts for the provision of
application specific integrated circuit service (“ASIC
Service”) is recognised under the percentage of completion
method, which is based on the services performed to date
as a percentage of the total services to be performed
under the relevant contract.

Revenue from the provision of total solutions for
information security services

Revenue from the provision of total solutions for information
security services is recognised by reference to the stage of
completion of the contract under which revenue is
recognised in the accounting periods upon services being
rendered. The stage of completion of a transaction is
determined by services performed to date as a percentage
of total services to be performed.

Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time basis by reference to
the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate
applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of
the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on
initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
£ 6 B 75 R R BT 5F (48)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
HE2016F12A31BILEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(n) Employee benefits

(i)

Short term employee benefits and contributions
to defined contribution retirement plan

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

The Group participates in a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (“the MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all
qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme is a
defined contribution retirement plan administered by
independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the Group
and its employees are each required to make contributions
to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income,
subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.
Contributions to the MPF scheme vest immediately. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those
of the Group, in fund under the control of trustees.

The PRC subsidiary of the Group also participates in a
defined contribution retirement benefit scheme (“the PRC
Scheme”) organised by the PRC municipal and provincial
government authorities whereby the PRC subsidiary is
required to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll
to the retirement benefit scheme. The Group has accrued
for the required contributions which are remitted to the
respective local government authorities when the
contributions become due. The local government
authorities are responsible for the pension obligations
payable to the retired employees covered under the PRC
Schemes.

The total expenses recognised in profit or loss represents
contributions payable to these schemes by the Group at
rates specified in the rules of the schemes. The Group has
no other material obligation for payment of retirement
benefits beyond the contributions as described above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(n) Employee benefits (Continued)

(ii)

(i)

Termination benefit

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when
the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits and when it recognises restructuring costs
involving the payment of termination benefits.

Share option scheme

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Employees (including directors) of the Group
receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments
whereby employees render services as consideration for
equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

For share options granted under the share option scheme,
the fair value of the employee’s services rendered in
exchange for the grant of the options is recognised as an
expense and credited to share option reserve under equity.
The total amount to be expensed over the vesting period is
determined by reference to the fair value of the options
granted at the grant date. At the end of each reporting
period, the Group revises its estimates of the number of
options that is expected to become exercisable. It
recognises the impact of the revision of the original
estimates, if any, in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive
corresponding adjustment to share option reserve over the
remaining vesting period.

income, and a
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

£ 6 B 75 R R BT 5F (48)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
HE2016F12A31BILEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(n) Employee benefits (Continued)

(i)

Share option scheme (Continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified if the original terms of the award are
met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any
modification, which increases the total fair value of the
share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the
employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as
if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. However, if a new award is substituted for the
cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement
award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new
awards are treated as if they were a modification of the
original award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share, if any.

(o) Leases

Leases which do not transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the Group are classified as operating
leases. Where the Group has the use of assets under operating
leases, payments made under the leases are charged to profit or
loss in equal instalments over the accounting periods covered by
the lease terms, except where an alternative basis is more
representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the
leased asset. Lease incentives received are recognised in profit
or loss as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments

made.

incent

Lease should recognise the aggregate benefit of
ives as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(p)

(@)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those
assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when
the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that
an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates
of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the
end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. HK$) at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of
the reporting period, and their income and expenses are
translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which
case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions
are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under
the heading of exchange reserve.

k% © B H5 ¥R & b 5 (78)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

HE2016F12A31 B ILFE

4, FESFTHE @

(p)

(@)

A
A HREtsERTERERE
B EEERTREKEE R
REREERGENERBENRS -
DEAEBEZEEERANE —H
o BERFEENBAHERS
EREREERL EREEER
FEEREEMTHATE K MAE
BEMBRBMAEBRERA  BHRER
LIEERAT N - AEEMEE
RAREEHRZE - EEKRAE
REBRBAEREMELENTE
R B A ACAS o

S

RimEENEEERNOPBHRER
B AZERBNINESENIINER
OMNE)ETHRZHNE BN EE
ER(IZEREEMENTIEL
FRENEE) BRI ZHANERE
AR RI|BEHER - AN KT
ENEREERERNERES
BgE - INESIRELKAEN
FEBRBEBABRE -

KEERBEAKERNBRESR
KEERNELZEANERLEN
HFRNEBEPER -

REIEEMBHREME - AEE
SIBREBNEERABEDRAE
Bm2REK(EIET) BBEH
BARMERERBE  MERAR
XHEAEANFHERRE - R
FEXPHEARERD  £EIS
AT REAREXZENERE
K-mHBRELZBMWA) AR
Htbt2mR S A RESTHOE
REBHETRA -

O
&

Bibol0z LV HEBBNEEH



96

910Z L3OdI TVNNNY AILIWIT SONIATOH ADOTONHIIL JIDOTVOIW

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

£ 6 B 75 R R BT 5F (48)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
HE2016F12A31BILEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

() Related parties

(A) A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

)

(i

(i)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or the Group’s parents.

(B) An entity is related to the Group is any of the
following conditions applies:

)

(i)

(i)

(iv)

(viil

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others);

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member
of a group of which the other entity is a member);

both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third party;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (A); or

a person identified in (A)() has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or to the parents of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(s) Segment report

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the consolidated financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s
most senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of
products and services, the nature of production processes, the
type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements,
management is required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions
are based on historical experience and other information that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:

(i) Capitalised development costs

Research costs are expensed as incurred. An intangible asset
arising from development expenditure on an internal project is
recognised only when the Group can demonstrate the technical
feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to
use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future economic
benefits, the availability of resources to complete the
development and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
attributable to the intangible asset during its development.
Determining the amounts to be expensed in profit or loss or to be
capitalised required management to make judgment, and
assumptions regarding the expected progress and outcome of
the research and development activities, the future expected
cash generation of the assets, discount rates to be applied, and
also the expected period of, probable future economic benefits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

£ 6 B 75 R R BT 5F (48)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
HE2016F12A31BILEE

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND EST'MATES (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Business combination

The recognition of business combinations requires the Group
making of judgment and estimation in relation to the purchase
price allocation for the acquisition over the fair value of the
acquired assets and the assumed liabilities of the acquired entity.
If any unallocated portion is positive it is recognised as goodwill
and if negative, it is recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit and loss or other comprehensive income.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial period.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
and intangible asset

In applying the accounting policy on property, plant and
equipment and intangible asset with respect to depreciation and
amortisation, management estimates the useful lives of various
categories of property, plant and equipment and intangible asset
based on the historical experience of the actual useful lives of
assets of similar nature and functions. The Group will revise the
depreciation and amortisation charge where useful lives are
different to those previously estimated, or it will write off or write
down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been
abandoned or sold.

Allowance for slow-moving and obsolete
inventories

Allowance for slow-moving and obsolete inventories is made
based on the ageing and estimated net realisable value of
inventories. The assessment of the allowance amount involves
judgment and estimates. Where the actual outcome in future is
different from the original estimate, such difference will impact
the carrying value of inventories and the allowance charge/write-
back in the period in which such estimate has been changed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

The Group recognises provision for liabilities of uncertain timing
or amount when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation
arising as a result of a past event, and it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligations and a reliable estimate can be made. Where it is not
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or
the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as contingent liabilities in a note 40 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any
impairment. For the purposes of impairment reviews, the
recoverable amount of goodwill is determined based on value-in-
use calculations. The value-in-use calculations primarily use cash
flow projections based on five year financial budgets approved
by management. There are a number of assumptions and
estimates involved in the preparation of cash flow projections for
the period covered by the approved budgets. Key assumptions
include the expected growth in revenues, timing of future capital
expenditures, growth rates and selection of discount rates to
reflect the risks involved. Management prepares the financial
budgets reflecting actual and prior year performance and market
development expectations. Judgment is required to determine
key assumptions adopted in the cash flow projections and
changes to key assumptions can significantly affect these cash
flow projections and therefore the results of the impairment
reviewed.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other
than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of each
reporting period. Non-financial assets with finite useful lives are
tested for impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when the
carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs
of disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value
less costs of disposal is based on available data from binding
sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets
or observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing
of the asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash flows from
the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
£ 6 B 75 R R BT 5F (48)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
HE2016F12A31BILEE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Categories of financial instruments

(b)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and

6. €T A
(@ EMIANSE

AEERZHREFRANEHEE

liabilities as at the end of each reporting year are as follows: HEeEEREMEBENT :
2016 2015
2016 F 20154
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAETT
Financial assets: EWMEE:
Loans and receivables B R FIE
— Trade receivables —EREFHER 7,985 2,191
— Loans receivables —EWER 255,954 86,420
— Deposit — %% 926 629
— Bank balances and cash —RTTEB LIRS 8,005 188,739
272,870 277,979
Financial liabilities: cRAE:
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost REENATENESREE
— Trade payables —ENEZER 543 928
— Other payables and accruals — Efth BT R EETRRIE 6,996 1,233
7,539 2,161

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including currency risk and interest rate risk), credit
risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks
are described below. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily
through sales and purchases that are denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency of the
operations to which they relate. The currencies giving rise
to this risk include United States dollars (‘USD”) and
Renminbi (“RMB”). In addition, certain bank balances of
the Group are also denominated in USD. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy
with respect to its foreign exchange exposure. However,
management monitors foreign exchange exposures and
will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

(i)

Currency risk (Continued)
The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at

6 B 5 iR R BT 5E (48)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
HE2016F12A31 B ILFE

6. TR I Aumwm

b) BEEBEEEEREER
()
() ERE k@
A W R & 3R HI R R LA 41
BHEMEEEEREE A

the end of each reporting period are as follows: BEHEREmELT
2016 2015
2016 F 20154
HK$°000 HK$’000
FTHET FET
Assets BE
Usb E7T 2,543 1,913
RMB AR 1,314 228
Liabilities =R
usD ETT 1,050 1,098
RMB AR 260 98
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis SIS B R JR 5T
The Group mainly exposes to foreign exchange fluctuation KEBFBZTZEEAZETMAR

of the currencies of USD and RMB against the currency of
Hong Kong dollar (‘HKD”). The directors consider that the
Group’s exposure to USD does not give rise to significant
foreign currency risk on the ground that HKD is pegged to
USD. Therefore, no sensitivity analysis of USD against the
functional currency of the respective group entity is
disclosed.

A reasonably possible change of 5% in the exchange rate
between RMB and HKD would have no material impact on
the Group’s profit or loss during the reporting periods and
there would be no material impact on the Group’s equity
as at the end of each reporting period. The sensitivity
analysis includes only outstanding RMB denominated
monetary items and adjusts their translation at the end of
respective reporting period for a 5% change in the
currency rate. 5% is the sensitivity rate used when
reporting foreign currency risk in respect of RMB internally
to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in the exchange rate of HKD against RMB.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

£ 6 B 75 R R BT 5F (48)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
HE2016F12A31BILEE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

(ii)

(i)

Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk arises
primarily from its variable-rate bank deposits.

The Group currently does not have any interest rate
hedging policy. However, the management monitors the
Group’s exposure to interest rate risk on an ongoing basis
and will consider hedging interest rate risk should the need
arise.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been prepared based on
the exposure to interest rates for the Group’s variable-rate
bank deposits at the end of each reporting period. The
analysis is prepared assuming the amount of these assets
and liabilities outstanding at the end of each reporting
period were outstanding for the whole period. A 25 basis
points increase or decrease in interest rates is used when
reporting interest rate risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment of
the reasonably possible change in interest rates. The
analysis has been performed on the same basis throughout
the reporting periods.

At the end of the reporting period, if interest rates had
been 25 (2015: 25) basis points higher/lower in respect of
the Group’s variable-rate bank deposits and bank
overdrafts, with all other variables held constant, there
would have increased/decreased (2015: decreased/
increased) by approximately HK$6,000 (2015:
HK$295,500) on the Group’s profit/loss during the
reporting period. These are mainly attributable to Group’s
exposure to interest rate on its variable rate bank balances.

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade
receivables, loans receivables and bank deposits. As at 31
December 2016 and 2015, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to
the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is the carrying amounts of the respective
recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statements of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

(i)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group has a credit policy in place and will perform
credit evaluations on all customers requiring credit over a
certain amount. The Group also has an export credit
insurance with the Hong Kong Export Credit Insurance
Corporation to cover risks on non-payment by customers.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual trade debt regularly
to ensure that adequate allowance for impairment losses
are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the
management of the Group considers that the Group’s
credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as the Group’s
top one (2015: one) trade debtor accounted for 27% (2015:
74%) of its total trade receivables as at the end of the
reporting period. In addition, the Group’s five largest trade
debtors accounted for 74% and 88% of its total trade
receivables as at 31 December 2016 and 2015

respectively.

The Group has 60 (2015: 36) loans receivables as at 31
December 2016.

The credit risk for liquid funds is limited because such
amounts are placed with various banks with good credit
ratings.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables are
set out in note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

Collateral held as security and other credit
enhancements

The Group does not hold other credit enhancements to
cover its credit risks associated with its financial assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

£ 6 B 75 R R BT 5F (48)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
HE2016F12A31BILEE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

(iv)

6. TR I Aumwm
b) BEEREEBEZERBE

policies (Continued) (#0)
Liquidity risk (ivy TBHESRER
The Group’s liquidity position is monitored closely by the AEECERBEeRIER
management of the Group. In the management of the AEEZREBE ﬁ RS o 72
liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of EEABDERR @ K
cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the EEERREREREERR
management to finance the Group’s operations and to TRZESRASFEYK
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term. FoUARAER s EERE
MEMSESHAERERBANR
During the reporting periods, the Group financed its RBERA - AEBFEHE
working capital requirements principally by funds generated MEBEEMNES RETR
from operations and issue of shares. MIRHEFEEEER -
The following table details the Group’s contractual TRFNAEBRE HREH
maturities at the end of each reporting period for its Xe@mBaEZSE Z’J Z| H o
financial liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on e TRERBEMBEZ
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the 5‘& MBRBESRE WAERE
earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. BENZHOEFEEBHAESE
The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. ?ﬁ B XRABEFNNBERETE
MIRERE -
Repayable on
demand or Between Total
within Between 3 monthsto  undiscounted Carrying
1month  1-3 months 1 year cash flows amount
ARERAR -8 A =f8A AEERS
-BAREE Z=fA E-F RERE BELH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHET FHET THER THET
As at 31 December 2016 420165123318
Trade and other payables  FE(TE 5l £ i B BR 3% 7,539 - - 7,539 7,539
As at 31 December 2015 20155123318
Trade and other payables  [ERf B 5 T H B B 3% 2,161 - - 2,161 2,161




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision maker has been identified as the executive
directors and certain senior management (collectively referred to as the
“CODM”) that make strategic decisions. Information reported to the
CODM, for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of
segment performance focuses on the types of goods or services
delivered or provided.

The CODM considers that the Group had two reportable operating
segments, namely IC business, being the design, development and
sales of integrated circuits ICs, and money lending business, prior to
the completion of acquisition of an information security business on 1
May 2016. Following the acquisition, the Group was engaged in three
reportable operating segments, namely IC business, money lending
business and information security business. The CODM regularly
reviews the nature of their operations and the products and services.
Each of the Group’s reportable operating segments represents a
strategic business unit that offers products and services which are
subject to risks and returns that are different from those of the other
operating segments.

6 B 5 iR R BT 5E (48)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
HE2016F12A31 B ILFE

TERERRERABFHRBARRN
HITESERETRRAEEARBBEA
[TELEBREE]) MEIELEBRRK
EEMUADEERLFGEOHBRANE
B BEMMEEREEEREOER -

FTEZRERARERE  TER20165F5A
THTEKKE -—BEMREEBL 28
AEEBREMERTZHKEE DI BIE
(BB EF (R AEMBEEENE
B RBEER NI EE AEER
E-EA2REEDH DEXERE
B MEEBREAMNRTLER TE2E
BARETHERELCERERMRY
WEZE - AEESAI2REEDH A —
EEEEREN REEREREHE
S EA O R AR B AR E D -

105

Bibol0z LV HEBBNEEH



o

910Z L3OdI TVNNNY AILIWIT SONIATOH ADOTONHIIL JIDOTVOIW

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

£ 6 B 75 R R BT 5F (48)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
HZE2016F12 A1 B ILEE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 7.

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results and
assets and liabilities by reportable operating segments:

() Segment results, assets and liabilities

7EE R @

UTREAZHELEDME DN AKHE
W hEENEERBEZON:

) 7H%XE BEERER

Unallocated
IC Money lending Information security corporate Total
SRER HE ERRZ KoELE &it
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
2016 | 20154 | 20164 | 20154 | 2016% | 20154 | 20165 | 20154 | 20164 | 20154
HK$'000 | HK$'000 | HK$'000 | HK$'000 | HK$'000 | HK$'000 | HK$000 | HK$'000 | HK$'000 | HK$'000
TEx | ThAx| TAx| FHx| FEx | Tz | FBx | TEx| FEx| Tax
Revenue &
Revenue from external RENREPH
customers g 23,908 | 23,701 | 27,012 5,543 9,832 - - — | 60,752 | 29,244
Gross profit EF 6,502 3,677 27,012 5,543 7,478 - - - 40,992 9,220
Bank interest income RATHBHA 1 1 - - 1 - 4 13 6 14
Depreciation and amortisation ¥ & K # $5 (1,214) | (1,243) (141) (24) (292) - (182) (182)| (1,829)| (1,449)
Other income and Hipl AR BES
expenses (7,538) (8,064) | (12,200) (5,306) (2,709) - (3,245) (3273) | (25,692) | (16,643
Profit/(loss) before income tax B i G %1 3l
WA/ (BB) (2,249) (6,629) | 14,671 213 4,478 - (3,423) (3,442) | 13,477 (8,858)
Income tax expense g BRI X - - @I - (112) - - - (288 -
Profit/(loss) for the year FREF/(B8) (2,249) |  (5629) | 12,498 213 3,766 - (3:423)| (3442 10592 | (8,858
Assets BE
Reportable segment AERHBEE
assets 11,826 11,319 | 260,215 | 93,628 11,265 - 29,837 | 181,815 | 313,143 | 286,762
Liabilities =L
Reportable segment AEHRHBERE
liabilities 1,349 1,683 2,238 50 7,100 — 521 428 11,208 2,161
Other segment Httn BER
information
Additions to property, RENE BEK
plant and equipment B 627 753 737 41 234 - - - 1,598 794
Additions to development cost £, & E # 8 ik A&
of intangible asset 210 - - - - 1,884 - - - 1,884 -

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue generated
from external customers. There were no inter-segment sales in
the current year (2015: nil).

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same
as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements. Segment profit or loss
represents the profit or loss earned by each segment without
allocation of central administration costs including directors’
emoluments, investment and other income, other gains and
losses, and income tax expenses. This is the measure reported
to the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance.

NEZ2HRZDBREEBINATFE
EEZWeE - ANFE I 8D SR
& (2016F : &) -

BENHNETRFEERGATE
WERWF4TI 2 A EE S BE
FAR » 9 303 Al sk B5 1B 45 & 9 2B Bk
B2 &R EiE  Tat o BPRE
BRA(BEEZHHN RERE
A - EH U 2s M B A R FT 15
MEAS) WM RAETBEEREE
ERUSPEERETFIFHEDHERR
7 HUE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 7.

(i)

Information about major customers

The Group’s revenue from customers which accounted for 10%

k% © B H5 ¥R & b 5 (78)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

HZE2016F12 A1 AILEE

7 28 & B
i) FEAEXEEFMNER

KEMEAREBKE10%IA LK

or more of the Group’s total revenue are as follows: EERAEBRRZOT ¢
2016 2015
2016 F 20154
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Customer A BEA N/ATRE A 4,149
Customer B ZF5B N/ATRE A 6,958
N/ARE A 11,107

Note: N/A: not applicable, as the corresponding figure did not contribute
over 10% of the total revenue of the Group

The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong. The
geographical location of customers is based on the location of
the customers, irrespective of the origin of the goods or services.
The geographical location of the non-current assets is based on
the physical location of the asset, in the case of property, plant
and equipment. The Group’s revenue from external customers
by geographical location of customers and information about its
non-current assets (other than loans receivables) by geographical
location of the assets are set out below:

Wk : TEA - A AERE TR EE
AEBHUEE10%A E

AEENEBUNES - TP M
EBAETREBEEPHMELTE
5 5 ) 2 BR 75 B0 SRR o B
X BELRRENS FRBEE
Wi EDRBEEEN BRI
BME - AKEREFEMGE S
DREIAREFPHNRERIREE
WEHUES S EBENERBDEE
(BWRERERINNERDT
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8

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

fm G B HS R & b 5 (78)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
HZE2016F12 A1 B ILEE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 7. 7EHER @
(i) Revenue from external customers (i) REIAEF KR

2016 2015
20165 20154F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHEIT
Hong Kong (place of domicile) BB (EEH) 40,602 10,436

The People’s Republic of China (“PRC”), FREARLME(THE]) -
excluding Hong Kong and Taiwan TBEEBERAE 19,203 16,815
Korea [ 193 659
Taiwan =y 264 295
Russia ik 2 Hi 485 1,036
Others EHAi 5 3
60,752 29,244

(iv)

Non-current assets (other than loans

receivables)

(iv) ERBEE(BKRE KR

2016 2015

2016 20154

HK$’000 HK$’000

THET FAT

Hong Kong (place of domicile) & (BEM) 30,983 607
The PRC, excluding Hong Kong FETEEREBR

and Taiwan 248 296

Taiwan = 1,666 2,200

32,897 3,103




8.

10.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

6 B 5 iR R BT 5E (48)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
HZE2016F12 A1 AILEE

REVENUE 8. Wz
The Group is principally engaged in the design, development and sales AREBETENREERETRTERTE]
of integrated circuits (“ICs”), money lending business and information HaRet FRAMEE WEEBELREN
security business. Revenue represents the net invoice value of goods BRELERE WHRERBEHANLEEY
sold and services provided after allowances for returns and trade FREERS(ENBEENE 5T E
discounts, interest from money lending business, and the value of BIRFEZEE WEESOFL - LA
services rendered from information security business during the REBEARTEBEMBEHERENEER &
reporting periods. An analysis of the Group’s revenue recognised EBRRFENDHERKREZOMET -
during the year is as follows:
2016 2015
2016 20154F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FAET
Revenue U &
—Sales of ICs —HEEXER 22,335 22,833
—Provision of ASIC services — 2 ASIC BR 7% 1,573 868
—Interest from money lending business —MEEBON L 27,012 5,543
—Provision of information security services —IRBHEARL RS 9,832 —
60,752 29,244
OTHER INCOME 9. Hftlg A
2016 2015
2016 20154F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
THET FHET
Bank interest income ER1T A B A 6 14
Sundry income FHIEWA 40 109
46 123
pa it N — |
OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 10. Htt = R E 18
2016 2015
2016 £ 20154
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T FAET
Gain on disposal of trading securities HEE SRS 2 Wa - 64
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE BEMRE
plant and equipment, net B8 F 58 - 6)
Exchange loss T 5, 5 18 (228) (168)
Waive of accumulated interest on promissory note 4% 7% 3, Z & 7 25+ 5| 8 354 —
126 (110)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
£ 6 B 75 R R BT 5F (48)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
HZE2016F12 A1 B ILEE

11. FINANCE COST

M. B%EHR

2016 2015
2016 20154
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T FAET
Accumulated interest on promissory note AHZERE 2558 354 —
354 —
‘\M it § — |
12. PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 12. FRHEF,(FE)
Profit/(loss) for the year has been arrived at after charging: FREF,(EB) B HR
2016 2015
2016 £ 20154
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FiET
(a) Staff costs (a) BIRA
Staff costs including directors’ emoluments BREEEWMEHE THRA
— Salaries, bonus and benefits in kind —H& AR EYWEFR 12,491 10,272
— Equity-settled share-based payments — REZERMDAR 968 —
— Staff welfare — BIEF 236 58
— Contributions to retirement benefit — RKAE R ET 8K
schemes 469 329
14,164 10,659
(b) Other items (b) EEE
Auditor’s remuneration 1% R % B
— audit services — E: RS 535 720
— other services — H A R % 350 60
Cost of inventories recognised as an BRIEAAIHNTFERA
expenses (Note 22) (Mg 7E22) 17,406 20,024
Commission paid e H 1,190 —
Legal and professional fees including FEEREXER (BEZEM
auditors’ remuneration — other services B & — E b BR 75) 2,716 1,611
Design and development costs AT I BB K AR 841 369




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
6 B 5 iR R BT 5E (48)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
HZE2016F12 A1 AILEE

13. REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

(@) Remuneration of Directors

All Directors’” emoluments shown below were mainly for the
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and its subsidiaries. Details of emoluments paid by the

Group to the directors of the Company are as follow:

(@) EE®M e

TXHTRAHMEEEFMHER
RERERARAREWME L
MEBOREERE - AKEEA

\|

S~

ool

RAEEXNOMESFBNT

Year ended 31 December 2016
EZ2016F12A31ALLEE

Equity-
settled Contributions
share- to retirement

Director’s based benefits
Name of Director fee Salary payments schemes Total
RELE RARBEA
BEpE Bxwme ¥e GRS EA B &5t
Notes HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 TER TER TER TER TER
ZHANG Qing KE i - 1,800 252 18 2,070
SUNG Tak Wing Leo RIGE i - 1,800 629 18 2,447
LIU Kam Lung BoiE i 129 - - - 129
YE Jian EZ8 i 129 - - - 129
CHEUNG ChiMan Dennis 3R & XX v 162 - - - 162
KO Yin Wali =ER v 129 - - - 129
CHIU Yu Wang NN v 129 - 87 - 216
Total B 678 3,600 968 36 5,282
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
fn © B 5 ¥R 2 B 5E (48)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

HZE2016%F 12 A

31 IEFE

13. REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (Continued)

(@) Remuneration of Directors (Continued)

1IB.ESERAEREEHFMAL

Y B =

(&)

(@) EE® <@

Year ended 31 December 2015

EHE2015F12A31HIFE

Contributions

Other to retirement

Director’s benefits benefits
Name of Director fee Salary (Note viii) schemes Total

H {13 A RREA
BEEHE ik Fia (B 5T viii) SHEIf R Ehy
Notes HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i FAT FET TET TET FAT
ZHANG Qing RE i - 1,195 - 18 1,213
LI Kwei Chung T vi - 220 77 6 303
SUNG Tak Wing Leo REE i - 1,195 - 18 1,213
LIU Kam Lung B&iE il 120 - — — 120
YE Jian HE il 120 — — — 120
CHAN Sun Kwong fR = vii 48 — — — 48
CHEUNG Chi Man Dennis 5k & iv 96 — — — 96
KO Yin Wai =5BE v 120 - - - 120
CHIU Yu Wang iR v 120 - - - 120
Total A& 624 2,610 7 42 3,353

Notes: PR RE -
executive director and Chairman HWITESERER

vi

Vii

Viil

executive director and promoted from Chief Financial Officer to
Chief Executive Officer on 30 April 2015

non-executive director

appointed as independent non-executive director on 30 April 2015

independent non-executive director

retired as Chief Executive Officer and executive director on 30 April
2015

retired as independent non-executive director on 30 April 2015

Other benefits include quarter, car rental allowance and leave pay.
All other benefits were paid in cash.

vi

vii

Viii

HITEE N R2015%44 A308 &
B REE BT BITHRAR

FHITES

MR2015F4 A0 EZ T AE L
FEHITESE

BB ITES

R2015% 4 A30 8 BT 17 R 48 &
k#itE=E

M2015%4 A30H B EB L IEH
TES

HeEMemEms HEmii R
BREAHFE - MAEEMBEFNZIAR
X



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
6 B 5 iR R BT 5E (48)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

HE2016F12A31 B ILFE

13. REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND 1B.EERTEESHFMAL
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (continued) B <€ =) 113

(b) Five highest paid individuals’ remuneration

b) TEBESFMALTHMHNE

The five highest paid individuals of the Group included two REENRAEGEaTFMALTE S

directors (2015: three) of the Company, details of whose
emoluments are included in the disclosures in above. The
emoluments of the remaining three (2015: two) highest paid
individuals for the year ended 31 December 2016 and 2015 are

BRERRAIMA(015F : =F)=
FOEFWNFBINALXEES -
#H E20164F K2015F12 A31H It
EEBRT=82015F  WB)HS

as follows: HWATHHEDT ¢
2016 2015
2016 20154
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHxT FE T

Salaries, allowances and benefits He EUREDREF

in kind 1,795 1,726
Contributions to retirement benefits schemes & {K 18 F| 5 &1 £t 2k 47 41
1,842 1,767

The emoluments of the 3 (2015: 2) individuals with the highest
emoluments are all within Nil to HK$1,000,000.

None of emoluments has been paid to these individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of office during the financial year (2015: Nil). In addition,
none of the directors of the Company has waived or agreed to
waive any emoluments during the year (2015: Nil).

234 (2016F 28 ) B a HF B A
T B BN F =8 7T =1,000,000
T e

BHRERENRN - AEBEIW LA LA
TX e EAEEMASIRE
AR S B R H BB SR 1E A R
B 1 B (20154 « &) o thoh o &
RABEBERFRNRESNKR B K
Z B & (2015 : &) ©

H39105 LV YEEBNETH



114

910Z L3OdI TVNNNY AILIWIT SONIATOH ADOTONHIIL JIDOTVOIW

14. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
£ 6 B 75 R R BT 5F (48)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
HZE2016F12 A1 B ILEE

14. iEHBAX

(@) Taxation in the consolidated statement of () REeEBEERkREMEZEKE
profit or loss and other comprehensive RPHBIIEE
income represents:
2016 2015
2016 20154F
HK$000 HK$'000
FE R FAET
Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax BVEATI1E — BB ST
Charge for the year FAXH 2,468 -
Deferred tax (note 32(a)) iR AE 75 18 (M 52 32(a)) 417 -
2,885 —

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2015: 16.5%) of
the estimated assessable profits for the year ended 31 December
2016. Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is made on the
estimated assessable profits for the year ended 31 December
2016 for two subsidiaries. Easy loan Finance Limited and

Maximus Consulting (Hong Kong) Limited (2015: nil).

Save as disclosed above, no provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax
is made since the Company and certain subsidiaries have no
estimated assessable profits for the year ended 31 December

2016.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) and
Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the
PRC subsidiary is 25% (2015: 25%). No provision for EIT is made
since the PRC subsidiary has no estimated assessable profit for

the year ended 31 December 2016 (2015: Nil).

H E2016F 128318 I+ F Z-
EBFCREZETERBENZ
16.5% (20154 : 16.5%) it & - &
2016 F12A31BHIEFE - & &
FEHIEMENB AR (SEYB
ARARILBARAEMEBNERA
A)) EE A Al BT R BR B s I 4 B
B (20154 : &) o

BEXHTEREEIN ARARAR
A THERRREZ=20166F12A4
STRALEFEWEEETMMGE
EROEA MW EREBRGHE
i o

BEFBRCEMBSHR(EEMSE
MDERDEMBBIAEEEKN
o BB B A R 2 B K B 25% (2015
F:25%)° B R B E QRN
HE2016F12A31 B IFFE I &
EAEEAETERBUETR - I E
B AT 1S BAE 4 4 (2015 4F ¢

).

=



14.

15.

16.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
6 B 5 iR R BT 5E (48)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

HZE2016F12 A1 AILEE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 14. Fﬁ' ‘?E_Fﬁ F';ﬁ 3'2 ()

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and
profit/(loss) before income tax at applicable

(b) BEBRAB R EHBH A
B RERFTB B AT &R R,

tax rates: (BER)HERWOT :
2016 2015
2016 F 20154
HK$’000 HK$’000
THxT FHET
Profit/(loss) before income tax B P15 B AT (B3 18) 13,477 (8,858)
Tax at applicable income tax rate RERFERMREAENTHIE 2,185 (1,502)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible BLAL IR S0 R 2 8
for tax purpose MGEE 355 234
Tax effect of income not taxable PRI E BARRKAD
for tax purpose Mg eE (1) @)
Deferred tax assets not recognised RERIEEFIBE E 591 1,305
Utilisation of tax losses previously E) LA RIER 2 B8
not recognised (245) (35)
Income tax expense Frisfif X 2,885 —

LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF
THE COMPANY

Loss attributable to owners of the Company was approximately

15. R AHEBABEEE

NN E A AL B 18 A& 493,156,0008

HK$3,156,000 (2015: HK$3,244,000) which has been dealt with in the
financial statements of the Company (see note 33(b)(ii)).

7T (2015 4F : 3,244,000 7T ) (75 2 M Mt
2T 33(b)(i) ©

DIVIDENDS 16. R B

HZE2016F12A31HILFE  TESIR
T HEARE (2015F : )

No dividends was declared or paid during the year ended 31 December
2016 (2015: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

£ 6 B 75 R R BT 5F (48)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
HZE2016F12 A1 B ILEE

17. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

(a) Basic earnings/(loss) per share

The calculation of basic earnings/(loss) per share are based on
the profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the Company and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the

17. BREF,(B1E)

(a)

BREXER(EHE)

BRERRN(BE) IREAR
AR ANBMEEN(BE) RFA
BERTEAERMETFAHENE -

year.
2016 2015
2016 £ 20154
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Profit/(loss) for the year EREF(EFE)
Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of PIN/NETE 7 RN L b |
the Company (FE18) 8,898 (8,858)
Number of shares (thousands)
BRBHE (FR)
Shares i 12
Weighted average number of ordinary shares 4 (R &2 2% 17 & i@ % % 15
in issue during the year MEZHER 1,388,746 473,976

(b) Diluted earnings/(loss) per share

The Group did not have any dilutive potential ordinary shares
during the year ended 31 December 2016 and 2015.

b) ERBBEER,(FE)

R 2 B A E £ 2016 F K 2015F 12
AB1HIEFE Y EL M AEEE

TE0 B -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
6 B 5 iR R BT 5E (48)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
HZE2016F12 A1 AILEE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

18. % BERSKHE

Computer Office Motor Furniture Leasehold
Equipment Instruments  Equipment Vehicle and Fixture Improvement Total
ERRB IHE BAZERE RE BREAREE HEVEEES &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET FHET FHET FET FET FET
Cost D%
At 1 January 2015 R2015%1 818 415 10,714 40 - 111 546 11,826
Additions NE 79 702 13 — — — 794
Disposal & (79) ] - - — — 81)
At 31 December 2015 H2015%F12A31A Rk
and 1 January 2016 201651 A1H 415 11,414 53 - 111 546 12,639
Additions through acquisition BRWEMBERRIRE
of subsidiaries (note 36(c)) (Pt 3£ 36(c)) - - 727 182 100 580 1,589
Additions NE 20 620 263 - 98 597 1,598
Disposal & - - - - ©) - ©)
At 31 December 2016 #®2016512A31H 435 12,034 1,043 182 304 1,723 15,721
Accumulated depreciation 2iHinE
At 1 January 2015 201561 A1H 269 7,484 16 - 29 264 8,062
Charge for the year FERTH 75 1,205 10 - 21 138 1,449
Written back on disposals R E R (75) - - - - - (75)
At 31 December 2015 M2015%12A31A Kk
and 1 January 2016 20161 A1H 269 8,689 26 — 50 402 9,436
Additions through acquisition BRUBHBLRRE
of subsidiaries (note 36(c)) (GEXEE) - - 441 106 42 139 728
Charge for the year FRZH 82 1,176 131 30 38 310 1,767
Written back on disposals R E R - - - - ©) - ()
At 31 December 2016 #2016%12A318 351 9,865 598 136 125 851 11,926
Net book value BREFE
At 31 December 2016 20166124318 84 2,169 445 46 179 872 3,795
At 31 December 2015 2015412 A318 146 2,725 27 — 61 144 3,103
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

£ 6 B 75 R R BT 5F (48)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
HE2016F12A31BILEE

19. GOODWILL 1.8 &
HK$’000
FAET
Cost and carrying amount RARKREE
Addition arising from acquisition of subsidiaries (note 36) WHEW B AR EAL ZNE (KHT7E36) 27,280
At 31 December 2016 R20164 12 A31H 27,280

At 31 December 2015

R20155%E12 A31 H -

Goodwill arose from acquisition of subsidiaries whose principal activities

are mainly provision of information security services.

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combination is allocated to

information security CGU for impairment testing.

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined by the value-in-use.
The calculation was carried out by cash flow projections based on
financial budgets approved by the management covering a five-year
period. Cash flows for the five-year period are estimated based on the
management’s expectation for market development in the first year and
an average annual growth rate of turnover of 11.0% thereafter until year
5 and a pretax discount rate of 12.8%. Cash flows beyond the five-year
period are extrapolated using an estimated weighted average growth
rate of 3.1%. The estimated growth rates used are comparable to the

average inflation rate of the last 10 years.

The key assumption used in the value-in-use calculation is the average
annual growth rate of turnover, which is determined based on the
management’s expectation for market development. The discount rate
used is pre-tax and reflects specific risks relating to this segment. Any
adverse change in the key assumptions could reduce the recoverable

amount below carrying amount.

The management reassessed the recoverable amount of the CGU of
information security business as at 31 December 2016 by reference to
the discounted cash flow calculation with the above estimation and
was of the opinion that no impairment loss should be recognised as the
recoverable amount of the CGU is higher than its carrying amount.

BMEDEUBIZEXHARHEEMRE
RIS M B AR EL -

7 R E A

HEAAMES  XBEMHAKBEE
EEMRLCAGELEM -

BeELBMNZAREESETERER
BEET FTEERBEEEEIEN
HMERAFHENTBKEE RS REE
AEL - AFHEANBESRENRESE
BEHE—FTMEERMNBHLZER
BEEERFLEXFEFHEREI1.0%
LA ATAR IR £128% st AF M 2
&ME%ﬁiuﬁﬁm%$ﬁﬁﬁ$
3.1% c P A MEET I RERMEB/A0
Em$ﬁ RERE

FEREEBFEMEANTIEREA/E
EBRNFHFREEX DREEHEEY
MERRERNEAMEE - AEARIEEE
KRBRBLA R RBRA B %D 85 E R
o BERAEM T E BT A L
A O & FER E RN REE

EREFRALEURBESREFNFEER
Fat fHErEFHFFH R2016F12 A31 H
EARLZEBBEESEUHAKE S
B URE BRBRSELBEMAHER
WESEARELRAE  WEABIDR
EEE -



20. INTANGIBLE ASSET

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
6 B 5 iR R BT 5E (48)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
HE2016F12A31 B ILFE

20. BFE B E

Capitalised
development
costs Software Total
2ERLH
o2& R A B4 s
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000
FA&T A& FAET
Cost B A
At 1 January 2015, 31 December 2015 201541 A1H -
and 1 January 2016 2015F 12 A31 H &
201641 A1H — — —
Addition through internal development % 38 A ST R E 1,884 — 1,884
Transfer in/(out) A () (1,884) 1,884 -
At 31 December 2016 R2016F 12 A31H — 1,884 1,884
Accumulated amortisation E-g £
At 1 January 2015, 31 December 2015 201541 18 -
and 1 January 2016 201512 A31H &
201641 A1H — — —
Charge of the year FARAXH — 62 62
At 31 December 2016 ®K2016F 12 A31H — 62 62
Net book value: BREFE !
At 31 December 2016 72016412 A31H — 1,822 1,822

At 31 December 2015

MN2015%12 A31H

Development costs of software were capitalised during the year 2016
as the software was internally generated intangible asset, with definite
useful lives is amortised on a straight-line basis over 5 years.

The software mainly represented a method for parsing and correlating

analysis of input data.

MR ARANSELEZEBVEE &
BB B AR R2016F BB R EETE - 12
SFEBRAIE AN B GRERE

B E2E-ERRE ABBEN A
BAEE D AT ) JO% e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
£ 6 B 75 R R BT 5F (48)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
HE2016F12A31BILEE

21. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(@)

General information of subsidiaries

(a)

21. R B A 2=

MELRZ—REH

At as 31 December 2016, the Company had direct or indirect
interest in the following subsidiaries, all of which are private
companies, particulars of which are set out below:

R2016F12A31H AR AR T
HI BT B R R R R B B B ok R
wm RSB RAAEHAENLE D

X HESABEIWT

Proportion of ownership interest

BERERLA
Place of Group’s
Incorporation Paid up, issued Effective Held by the Held by a Principal
Name of Company and Operation  Capital/Registered Capital Interest Company Subsidiary Activities
B R BEE BTRE/ &8 BALE B-HHE
ARER EEwE ERER L LT BE AARHE TEEE
Dig;;r!)%held
HER
Megalogic Business Limited British Virgin Ordinary share US$1 100% 100% — Investment holding
Islands
AERLEE  EBERIER 100% 100% - REER
Megalogic Investment Limited British Virgin Ordinary share US$1 100% 100% — Investment holding
Islands
KERLES EBRRIXT 100% 100% - REAR
Minilogic Investment Limited British Virgin Ordinary share US$1 100% 100% — Investment holding
Islands
ABERABE  EBRRIER 100% 100% - REZR
Excellence Steps Limited British Virgin Ordinary share US$1 100% 100% — Investment holding
Islands
HEREZHE EBRRIET 100% 100% - BAER
Indirec}g held
BEE
Easy Loan Finance Limited Hong Kong Ordinaéy shares 100% . 100% Money lending
HK$80,000,000
SRBHERRRA B % 3% 80,000,000 7T 100% - 100% &
MiniLogic Device Corporation Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% - 100% Design,development
Limited (‘MiniLogic HK") HK$18,321,554 _and sales of ICs
?ﬁizﬁ@ﬁﬁﬁggﬂ EE L imAR 18,321,554 1T 100% - 100% &%ﬂ@%&fﬁ%
IS B B
Megalogic China Hong Kong Ordinary share HK$1 100% - 100% Investment holding
Development Limited
LEIFBERARAR D L@ERIBT 100% - 100% #RE#ERK
KEEER G EER AR A A (note () PRC Regiséered capital 100% - 100% Inactive
HK$50 million
RBRERECXERERAR M)  FE AMERSTEET 100% - 100% EEEE
Easy Trade Securities Limited (note (i) Hong Kong Ordinaéy shares 100% - 100%  Investment holding
HK$10,000,000
SHBEFBR AR (M) B % 3% 10,000,000 7T 100% - 100% HEHEK
Maximus Venture Holdings Limited British Virgin Ordinary shares US$50,000 55% - 55%  Investment holding
Islands
EBRABS  EBKR50,000%T 55% - 55% KRB ER
Maximus Group Consulting Limited British Virgin Ordinary shares US$50,000 55% - 55% Investment holding
Eﬁél%:%ﬁ% & Ak 50,000% 7T 55% - 55% REZR
Maximus Consulting (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$10,000 56% - 55%  Information security
BREMENBRAA Bk LA 10,000 T 55% - 55% AMRZ
Notes: M

0

(i)

The registered capital was increased from HK$1,000,000 to
HK$50,000,000 during the current year. As of 31 December 2016, the
paid up capital was HK$1,500,000 and the remaining registered capital to
be injected on or before 30 March 2026.

With effect from 10 January 2017, Easy Trade Securities Limited has
changed its name to Easy Finance Assets Management Limited.

0

(i)

N E it & A8 $8 1,000,000 7T g &=
50,000,0007% 7T ° & E20164F 12 A 31
B Bt & A A1,500,00078 7T M &4 T 18
BN 2026E3 A30H sk 2 AIIEA °

B2017F1A10B B S BEEHFER
RAIEX DL AU BIEEERAR

NI



21. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(b) Details of non wholly-owned subsidiary that
have material non-controlling interests

The table below shows details of non wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Group which were acquired during the year that have material

non-controlling interests:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

k% © B H5 ¥R & b 5 (78)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

N

Proportion of
Place of ownership
incorporation and interest held by

principal place of non-controlling

HE2016F12A31 B ILFE

21. AMEB AT 2w
b) BEEEXREERERZZH
2EMBRARZFHTE

TRBERAEEEFAWRE R E
BERFERESRZIFZENE

SELTE

Profit allocated
tonon-  Accumulated
controlling non-controlling

Name of subsidiary business interests interests interests
FERER
F 8 B 3L it B R BE2z SBRTHEER Rt EER
MEARERE FTEEEME EERERLLH T 2 % R #Ex
2016 2016 2016
2016 F 2016 F 2016
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FAET FHET FHET
Maximus Consulting (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong
HAeEHBERBRAF &% 45% 1,694 1,699
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

£ 6 B 75 R R BT 5F (48)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
HZE2016F12 A1 B ILEE

21. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 21. R B A R Z % &= )
(b) EEEARFEREZZH

(b) Details of non wholly-owned subsidiary that

have material non-controlling interests

(Continued)

Note: The following table summarised financial information of Maximus
Consulting (Hong Kong) Limited. The amounts disclosed are

before intra-group eliminations.

2EMHE QR ZF1Euwm

Mgk TERBAR A ERABRBARR A
ZHBER -FRBRESEAEE
NABRELHAT SR -

HK$’000
2016 2016 F TET
Current assets MBEE 9,223
Non-current assets EMBEE 2,688
Current liabilities eI R= N (7,794)
Non-current liabilities FMBEE (342)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company YNGR ¥ DN L (2,076)
Non-controlling interests FERE A = (1,699)
Revenue Wz 9,832
Expenses 3 (6,066)
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year FREMNRE2E R R
attributable to: BEEEN
Owners of the Company ZN/NEIEZ RN 2,072
Non-controlling interests FEfE AR = 1,694
3,766
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests S FIEERERE ZRE -
Net cash generated from operating activities KEFHMF 2R FHE 1,545
Net cash used in investing activities REFHMA R FHE (2,118)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents

Ae MRS EEWR L FE

(573)




22.

23.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
6 B 5 iR R BT 5E (48)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

HZE2016F12 A1 AILEE

INVENTORIES 22. 78
2016 2015
2016 F 20154
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Raw materials R A #t 450 762
Work in progress Eem 2,546 1,929
Finished goods X & 3,561 4,327
6,557 7,018
Less: Provision for slow-moving and obsolete BB RBRTERE
inventories (2,125) (1,866)
4,432 5,152
During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group made a provision H E22016F12A31H I FE A&
of HK$259,000 for slow-moving and obsolete inventories (2015: B % 85 K 38 B 17 & B 1% 259,00078 7T
HK$1,175,000). (20154 : 1,175,000/ 7T) °
The above amounts were included in “cost of inventories recognised as e B ASFENBRIEARI
an expense” for the respective years. BTFERA] -
TRADE RECEIVABLES 23. EIRE 5 RN
2016 2015
2016 F 20154F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Trade receivables JEWE 5 BR 3K 7,985 2,191
Recognised services receivables B 7 52 AR 75 FE U BR 3R 1,866 -
9,851 2,191
The recognised service receivables were services performed to ERRARGENERAEEERITERP 2R
customers pending for invoicing, which is subject to mutually agreed % BB EAR B 15T 2 1 5RAE K E K B

payments terms. B ES o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
£ 6 B 75 R R BT 5F (48)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

HE2016F12A31BILEE

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 23. EWE 5 R

(@) PR AT

(@) Ageing analysis

-
910Z L3OdI TVNNNY AILIWIT SONIATOH ADOTONHIIL JIDOTVOIW ﬁ

The Group normally allows a credit period ranging from “cash on
delivery” to 120 days (2015: “cash on delivery” to 90 days) to its
trade customers as at 31 December 2016. The following is an
ageing analysis of trade receivables at the end of each reporting
period, presented based on the invoice date:

R2016F12 A31H  AEEBRE A
HES9REPRHIEIMZKIE120
H (20154 : [EXIfF 5] Z00H) &
EEH - UTRERSHREHRES
ZEHENNENE SRR

B

2016 2015

2016 F 20154

HK$’000 HK$’000

FER FET

0-30 days 0-30H 5,130 1,006
31-60 days 31-60 H 1,675 604
61-90 days 61-90 H 834 518
More than 90 days B0 H 346 63
7,985 2,191

Amounts included in trade receivables at 31 December 2016
related to both IC sold and services performed under ASIC
services contracts and services performed under information
security services contracts, and invoiced to those customers (2015:
both IC sold and services performed under ASIC services
contracts).

The Group has implemented policies that require appropriate
credit checks on potential customers before granting credit. The
Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy
counterparties. The Group’s exposure and credit ratings of its
counterparties are monitored by management. The maximum
credit risk of such financial assets is represented by the carrying
value of asset.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an internal
credit assessment process to assess the potential customer’s
credit quality and defines credit limits of the customer. Credit
limits attributed to customers are reviewed by the management
regularly. In determining recoverability of a trade receivable, the
Group considers any change in credit quality of the trade
receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the end
of the reporting period.

R20165E12 A31 8 - 5 A BN &
SERMHRIBEEKERHEE R
B IRASICHR % & #) 12 # IR 7 A &%
BIEEMEREZREE OIRERE
EH YEMZEEFHAAESR
(2015 : £ EBEEHERIRE
ASICARFS & #U R AR %) -

AEBECHERE  BERELEER
M EEREPETEEEERS -
AEBNBRASEREERIFN
HFHETRS MEEETRET
EASEMMEHNRAREEETF
THEEFL - -HEZREENR
SEERRAEEMKREE-

RERERFTEL 2 NEEE
AABEEFEREFAFHERE
EFPFMEEEERAETFPHE
ERE -HKTEPNEEREAE
BEERR BERKESERK
AR ERRER - AEEZEA
RELEEEHEREHRELK
BHRREEERNEAEE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

(b) Trade receivables that are not impaired

Included in the Group’s trade receivables balance are debtors
with approximately aggregate carrying amount of HK$3,144,000
and HK$1,299,000 which are past due as at 2016 and 2015
respectively for which the Group has not provided for impairment
loss. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

The ageing analysis of the Group’s trade receivables that are not
individually nor collectively considered to be impaired are as
follows:

k% © B H5 ¥R & b 5 (78)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

HE2016F12A31 B ILFE

23. EIRE 5 KRR @
b) YEBEZEWRE SR

FIAKREEREWE SRR T
EEEMES £ 4 A3,144,000% 7T
1%.1,299,000%8 7T K fE WL FRIB - 2 &
FIEE 5 B R20164F K& 20154 i
H-mASE K AREBEED
BE AEEBVERZSEBEH
EEE R -

RE B EE R KRR E SR
BENEYREZERREITAT

2016 2015

2016 £F 20154

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FHET FAET

Neither past due nor impaired FE780 BASORL (B 4,841 892
Past due but not considered impaired 8 HA B R AR BRI E

1-30 days 1-30H 874 140

31-60 days 31-60 H 1,100 578

61-90 days 61-90 H 824 518

More than 90 days EB3E90H 346 63

3,144 1,299

7,985 2,191

Trade receivables that were past due but not impaired related to
a number of independent customers for whom there is no recent
history of default. Based on past experience, management
believes that no impairment allowance is necessary as there has
not been a significant change in credit quality up to the date of
this report and the balances are still considered fully recoverable.

EBHERBRENERE SRR
BT EIY MR AEEEE T B
EFER REBELRR EEE
RRBAEHRERE REZE
EAREAHEEERIEEX
WE - MAARDBE R 2EM
[B] o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
£ 6 B 75 R R BT 5F (48)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

HZE2016F12 A1 B ILEE

24. LOANS RECEIVABLES 24. EIRE R

2016 2015
2016 F 20154
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FHET
Loans to customers BERFZERF 253,968 86,097
Accrued interest receivables FE Ui FE 51 I B 1,986 323
255,954 86,420

Analysed as: DA
Non-current assets ERBEE 5,216 6,101
Current assets mENEE 250,738 80,319
255,954 86,420

Loans receivables arise from the Group’s money lending business.
They are repayable according to repayment schedules, normally with
contractual maturity between 1 month and 12 years as at 31 December
2016 and 2015. Loans to customers bear annual interest rate ranging
from 10% to 26.4% as at 31 December 2016 (2015: 12%—-24%).

Except for loans receivables with a carrying amount of approximately
HK$86,972,000 (2015: HK$35,897,000) as at 31 December 2016,
which are secured by collaterals provided by customers, all loans
receivables as at 31 December 2016 and 2015 are unsecured.

The following is an ageing analysis of loans receivables at the end of
each reporting period, presented based on the remaining period to
contractual maturity date:

BREREAEBMIREEBELE - RN
20164 K 2015F 12 A31H  HIREEXK
BFEXEDR  AOEHME RN T1EA
126 - R2016F 12 A31H MEF R
HHOEREN T10%E26.4% 2 F B &
5B (20154  12% £ 24%) °

Fr7A20164F 12 A 31 B BRI 1B %) 486,972,000
7 7T (20154F : 35,897,0005 7T ) &) JE I &
REFEPREHEZERRERERIN B
20164 2015412 31 H 0 F B & Ik
B K o

UTREREVHRRBTHEERD
B2 2 BEERRE D

2016 2015

2016 £ 20154

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FExT FAT

Within 1 year 1R 250,738 80,319
Over 1 year and up to 5 years B@1FE5F 432 2,427
Over 5 years HBi@sF 4,784 3,674
255,954 86,420

The above balances are neither past due nor impaired.

The Group has implemented policies that require appropriate credit
checks on potential customers before granting loan.

bt R A B SOR(E

AEBEDHIERE  ERRLERAY
BEEPETEEEERS -
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26.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

LOANS RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The Group’s exposure and credit ratings of its counterparties are
monitored by management. The maximum credit risk of such financial
assets is represented by the carrying value of asset. Before accepting
any new customer, the Group uses an internal credit assessment
process to assess the potential customer’s credit quality and defines
credit limits.

In determining recoverability of loans receivables, the Group considers
any change in credit quality of the loans receivables from the date of
the loan was initially granted up to the end of the reporting period.

24.

6 B 5 iR R BT 5E (48)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
HZE2016F12 A1 AILEE

AL S EINT )

EEESERAKEMEENER&RHE
HFITWEEFL - HHEZREENR
BEERBRREEMNKREE - REME
MMEFP 2 AERERAREEF
HEFAFHEEEPNERERZRA
EEERE -

EFTRAEFNAKRDEER  KEH
EZEEVIABRHERE A ERENKRE
BWEREEIEMNTMEE -

DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS 25. RE RN RE
2016 2015
2016 FF 20154
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHET
Deposit for purchase of raw materials RERMEZES 926 629
Rental and utilities deposits for leases Mz e kKEZS 806 377
Prepayment for legal and professional fees EREMBEXEBRBNIIE 81 46
Others Hib 191 105
2,004 1,157

BANK BALANCES AND CASH 26. (RITHEGBRREAS

Bank balances and cash comprise cash and short-term deposits with
an original maturity of three months or less which are held with financial
institutions and carry interest at prevailing market rates. The average
effective interest rates of the Group’s bank balances are 0.01% and
0.04% per annum, as at 31 December 2016 and 2015 respectively.

BITER LB RERERTFHRAES R
BRI EEE A=A AT RIAE
TMHF R BT 20164
%2015 124381 H - AEBEIRITEHKRD
FHEBRFFED R A0.01% K% 0.04% °

2016 2015
2016 £ 20154

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FHxT FE T

Cash at bank and in hand RITKERRS 8,005 188,739
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
£ 6 B 75 R R BT 5F (48)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

HZE2016F12 A1 B ILEE

27. TRADE PAYABLES 27. ENEZ RN
An ageing analysis of the Group’s trade payables, presented based on

the invoice date at the end of each reporting period, is as follows: BRESEZTOESR ST T :

AEERERERRREZAHNZ5IK

2016 2015
2016 20154
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAET
0-30 days 0-30H 383 579
31-60 days 31-60 H 160 134
61-90 days 61-90H - 215
543 928

28. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 28. Hftht B+ & Bt R E
2016 2015
2016 F 20154
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAT
Receipt in advance from customers Tl E P 2 FIE 1,972 39
Deposit received [BAl € 507 129
Accrued expenses JEETE R 672 990
Other payables H b B ER 216 43
Amount due to a former director A — LA EES 2 KA 48 32
3,415 1,233

The amount due to a former director is unsecured, interest-free and

repayable on demand. BIBEERER -

29. AMOUNT DUE TO A NON-CONTROLLING 29. Ef —BHEB AT 2
INTEREST SHAREHOLDER OF A FERERBRRZK

SUBSIDIARY

The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

N —fAEEEZRBRELR ®

SZBAREER 2RV RARBEREER-



30.

31.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

6 B 5 iR R BT 5E (48)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
HZE2016F12 A1 AILEE

PROVISION 30. &
2016 2015
2016 20154
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FiET

Provisions for long service payments RHRB BB

At 1 January ®1A1H - -
Addition through acquisition of a subsidiary FRWEN B R RMITENEE 123 -
At 31 December W12 A31H 123 —

PROMISSORY NOTE

On 1 May 2016, the Company issued promissory note (“PN”) with an
aggregate principal amount of HK$17,500,000 as part of the
consideration for acquiring 55% of the issued share capital of Maximus
Venture Holdings Limited (the “Maximus”). The fair value of PN was
approximately HK$17,500,000 on 1 May 2016. PN bear interest at 6%
per annum and matured at the third anniversary from the date of issue,
being 30 April 2019. The interest rate on initial recognition is 6% per
annum.

The principal amount of the PN was, however, early redeemed by the
Company before 31 December 2016 and on the same time, the holder
of the PN has agreed to waive all accumulated interest payable under
the PN to be incurred.

The movement of the carrying amount of PN during the year ended 31
December 2016 was set out below:

N EARERE

R2016FE5A1H ARABHETELXRS
¥617,500,0008 T 2 A A ZE (A ELE
1) E & U Maximus Venture Holdings
Limited ([ Maximus |) 22 55% B2 # 17 IR A< &)
B RAE o A H EHENR2016F5A1H 2
A F{E 49 A17,500,00078 JT o & 3 Z #
BENERCEFBEBERNBEITHHEASE
—EEF H - BI201954 8308 - 4
FHEREHENEFEE -

A ZRHBEBEZASBEEHEAR AR
2016F 12 A31H 2 AT ie R HE B K [A] 5 -
EAEBREACDRERREN ZKRE
THELENMBREMNZFFE -

HZ2016F 12 A31 B IE FERAH ZE
BREEZEHHTIOT

2016 2015

2016 F 20154

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHET

Issue of PN BT R EE 17,500 -
Accumulated interest 27 8 354 —
Waive of accumulated interest B REF B (354) -
Early redemption REEL (17,500) -
At 31 December M12H31H - —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

fm G B HS R & b 5 (78)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

HE2016F12A31BILEE

32. DEFERRED TAXATION

2. IEIER1E

(a) Deferred tax assets and liabilities

recognised:

The components of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities recognised in

(a)

BRANELEHAEAEERS

& :
RIGEMBERARERAEILER

the consolidated statement of financial position and the BH(EE)/BEAKIT D ARER
movements during the year are as follows: FAMEESHMAT
Accelerated
tax Intangible Unused tax
depreciation assets losses Total
hn R B % FERABE
wE BEEE BiE &5t
HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
FHET FAT FAT FHET
Deferred tax arising from FMEENELZERE
At 1 January 2015 EA2015¢1 H1H 528 — (528) —
(Credited)/charged to REZET GEA) 1%
profit or loss (77) — 7 -
At 31 December 2015 and R2015F 12 A31H &
at 1 January 2016 201641 A1H 451 — (451) —
Addition through acquisition of 37 38 U B& — 5 BT /8 2
a subsidiaries (note 36(c)) AN E (M 5E36(0) 57 — (132) (75)
(Credited)/charged to profit or W8z (5t A), 1k
loss (121) 301 237 417
At 31 December 2016 2016412 A31 A 387 301 (346) 342
Deferred tax assets not recognised b) RERNIELERBEEE

(b)

As at 31 December 2016, the Group has unused tax loss of
approximately HK$27,444,000 (2015: HK$25,495,000) available
for offset against future profits that may be carried forward
indefinitely. Deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect
of HK$2,098,000 (2015: HK$2,734,000) of such tax loss. No
further deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
tax loss due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

MN2016F12831H » A& B 4k
&) A 2 B8 & 1B 4 /27,444,000
7T (2015 4F : 25,495,000 7T ) ]
FA DA K 85 2K 2R i A1) 3 AT A R BB A4S
o REEE R ERBEEBER
2,098,000 7T (20154F : 2,734,000
B BELEHIBEE - BAREETE
B R 2R g ) AROR - B R ph B IR S
ERRAELBRLEHREEE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
6 B 5 iR R BT 5E (48)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

HE2016F12A31 B ILFE

33. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES 3. WA K f#E
131
(@) Share capital (@) B
%
Number %
of shares  Nominal value Tﬁ
BB #E EE
'000 HK$’000 =
Fi Fi s
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each BROAEBETHNEER %

Authorised:
At 31 December 2016 and

EIE
A2016F 128318 &

31 December 2015 2015F12HA31H 10,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAR:
At 1 January 2015 MR2015F1A1H 288,000 28,800
Issue of shares upon placing (note (i) B 317 AR (B 5EG) 57,600 5,760
Issue of shares pursuant to open offer BIEAFHEESEITRGD

(note (i) (B 2 (i) 1,036,800 103,680
At 31 December 2015 and R2015F12 A31 H &

1 January 2016 2016%F1 A1H 1,382,400 138,240
Issue of shares upon exercise of ITIE BRI D

share options (note (iii)) (B 7 (i) 15,382 1,538
At 31 December 2016 R2016 512831 H 1,397,782 139,778

(i) On 3 June 2015, a total of 57,600,000 ordinary shares of (i)
HK$0.10 each were issued by way of placing at a placing
price of HK$0.34 per share for cash consideration of
HK$19,584,000. The excess of the placing price over the
par value of the shares issued was credited to the share
premium account.

R2015F6A3H  ARQalid
BEETNIRTRESER’RH
034 B THRREBEITAHR
57,600,000 % & f% I {E0.107%
THEBRUNBRIGESRE
19,584,0007% 7T ° fid & B #8 i
EETROEAEMNID D E
AR m B o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
£ 6 B 75 R R BT 5F (48)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
HE2016F12A31BILEE

33. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(a) Share capital (Continued)

(i)

(i)

v)

On 17 December 2015, a total of 1,036,800,000 ordinary
shares of HK$0.10 each by way of an open offer at the
subscription price of HK$0.20 per offer share on the basis
of three offer shares for every one share held on the record
date, 24 November 2015. The net proceeds from the open
offer, after deducting relevant costs and expenses, were
approximately HK$199,342,000. The excess of the
subscription price over the par value of the shares issued
was credited to the share premium account.

On 3 August 2016, a total of 15,382,400 ordinary shares
of HK$0.10 each were issued upon exercise of share
options granted under the share option scheme. The
excess of the exercise price over the par value of the
shares issued was credited to the share premium account.

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the
share options issued under the scheme are included in
note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

(b) Movements in components of equity

(i)

Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 64 of
the consolidated financial statements.

Merger reserve arose as a result of the reorganisation
taken place on 20 December 2011 which represents the
differences between the issued shares and share premium
of MiniLogic HK upon group reorganisation and the nil-paid
issued of 380,000 shares of the Company which credited
as fully paid.

33. WA K 7 )
(@ B @

(i

(iii)

MR2015F 12 A17H & A
AEBAREEHFANIER
BESKRESRMH20% T
AR A2 8% B BRI (BN20154F 11
R24B)BH B —KkHE
BoRBEERGO 2EEE
77 & #£1,036,800,000 i% & P&
HEIOE T EBR - A
FEEMBREBEFRBEN
BB ARSZ LB A
199,342,000 7T ° #8 { B 8
TROEEzZREBEESED
FTARMDEER-

MR2016F8 A3H » A &) %
17 A 15,382,400 1% & % ™
H0.10/8 JT ) & i AR AT (&
BREFIETROOER
E-THEEBLEBEITRMN
HEMNBSETARMDEE
/E\Ea

xR BB R R &) KAt 81 0A
TEBRTEREZFRAR
FEMIBHMRMESS

REE
ARERAFEREFOR
BEBERARB2INGA
B 7% 9 % 64 E t i 2 W 25
BHEA -

2011612 200 R E 40 m &
EMEHREESEEEHE
WEAEHEENBEBTRD
K B 17 34 (8 B AR R A LA R
A% 515 = 8% 17 59 380,000 % A
RIBBENKRG 2HANE
o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
6 B 5 iR R BT 5E (48)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

HZE2016F12 A1 AILEE

33. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continuves)  33. % 7% & fi 8 (a)

133
(b) Movements in components of equity (Continued) (b) #EZAEKEE @ .
O
(i) The Company (i) &AT 3
The reconciliation between the opening and closing REBGARRIZIEARKIT D *;T;
balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated FUHEFRESGOEESHEN
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes Ge=mBEHR - ARAF E
in equity. Details of the changes in the Company’s ERREXRBOREFEF E,olj
individual components of equity between the beginning VEERNBEFABSOT E
and the end of the year are set out below: -

Share Share Accumulated
capital premium losses Total
BE&E  KROBE RiEE A%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET FA&T FET
At 1 January 2015 201541 818 28,800 34,277 2,124) 60,953
Loss for the year FRER — — (3,244) (3,244)
Total comprehensive expense 2HAXBE — — (3,244) (3,244)
Transactions with owner: BEBEAZRS:
Issue of shares upon placing it & 1T D
(note 33(a)(i)) (P 7E33()(0) 5,760 13,824 - 19,584
Issue of shares pursuant to BIEAREEEITRNG
open offer (note 33(a)(ii)) (P 5 33(a)(ii)) 103,680 103,680 — 207,360
Expenses incurred in connection FRBETRMDESE
with the issue of shares during #) 5 2
the year — (8,538) — (8,538)
109,440 108,966 — 218,406
At 31 December 2015 H2015F12 8318 &
and 1 January 2016 201641 A 1H 138,240 143,243 (5,368) 276,115
Loss for the year FREIE - - (3,156) (3,156)
Total comprehensive expense >EBESEE - - (3,156) (3,156)
Transactions with owner: HEFAZRS
Issue of shares upon exercise of ITEBRERITIRGD
share option (note 33(a)(ii)) (B 7 33(a)ii)) 1,538 5,044 - 6,582
1,538 5,044 - 6,582
At 31 December 2016 2016512831 H 139,778 148,287 (8,524) 279,541
(c) Capital Management (c) EXxEE
The Group manages its capital to ensure the entities in the Group AEFBEBEERAUBRAEAS
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the BESEREER ME—HHEES
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and MEMEBERAESR SRR S
equity balances. B & A [B1 5 ©
The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable AEEMEAREBEREARAE
to owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital, BEARLES(BEESZEITRAE

reserves and retained profits. HERREB RN -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

fm G B HS R & b 5 (78)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

HE2016F12A31BILEE

33. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(c) Capital Management (Continued)

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure
periodically. The Group considers the cost of capital and risk
associated with each class of capital, and will balance its overall
capital structure through payment of dividends, issuance of new

shares as well as the raising of new debts.

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

(c)

33. A K &% an

EXEE @

FEBENERETH

A EARR

B AEBEERZHRENAHN

B B A

BB XK

B BIHBRARERENTFEE

EEEARRE-

34. KAz B BN K

THE COMPANY
2016 2015
2016 F 20154
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
Mo 3E THExT FHET
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB K& 46 225
Investments in subsidiaries RBRARIZEE 21 - -
Total non-current assets HIERBEE 46 225
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEK B AT HIA 205,023 80,137
Loans receivables TEWE 72,901 15,000
Deposits and prepayments %Re RBENMNFIE 18 23
Bank balances and cash RITHEHR LIRS 1,883 181,133
Total current assets BRBEE 279,825 276,293
Current liability mEAE
Other payables and accruals HibE R EFTRIE 330 403
Total current liability wREAE 330 403
Net current assets BREEE 279,495 275,890
Net assets FEE 279,541 276,115
Capital and reserves EAXRGHE
Share capital A% A 33(a) 139,778 138,240
Reserves EE 33(b)(ii) 139,763 137,875
Total equity DB 279,541 276,115

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the
board of directors on 24 March 2017 and signed on its behalf by:

ZHANG Qing

REE
Director

EE

FBMACDR0I7TEIAURREES

HERRENE YHTIHIEERERE

E=

SUNG Tak Wing Leo

5o /8

RIGH
Director

EE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) on 16 May 2012 (“the Adoption Date”). Share Option
Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10 years effective from 10
July 2012 of the scheme and will expire on 9 July 2022.

The purpose of the Share Options Scheme is to provide incentives to
the participants. The participants of the Share Option Scheme, as
absolutely determined by the Board, include:

(@)

any employee (whether full time or part time employee, including
any executive directors) of any member of the Group or any entity
in which the Group holds any equity interest (“Invested Entity”);

any non-executive directors (including independent non-
executive directors) of any member of the Group or any Invested
Entity;

any supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity;

any customer of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

any person or entity that provides research, development or
other technological support to any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity;

any shareholder of any member of the Group or any Invested
Entity or any holder of any securities issued by any member of
the Group or any Invested Entity; and

any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to any area
of business or business development of any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity.

6 B 5 iR R BT 5E (48)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
HE2016F12A31 B ILFE

35. B IR #ERT &l

AARR2012F5 8168 ([ #4 H & )
B — B B ([T S -
BE RS #E st & 201247 A10B #£10FE R
B BE2022F7A9REM °

BREFSZENSERDES2EE B
BB Z2EFE(DRETEE2RR
E) B

(@ AEBEMEMKERRIANEEFR
EEMBEZEMNER((XREE
BZEARE (TwmEBIRR
BE BRENHITES):

b AEEEFAKERRIEMZHR
BERZEMNFATER(EHESE
TIFMITEE):

© MAEEEMKE R FRKEMF
REERBREHREMIRB 2EM
HEm

() ANEBEAEMFKERRHEMZER
BERBZEMER:

€ MASEEEMKERFHEMZ
REBRREHFE HEIEMBR
MEZEMALHER:

M ANEBEEFAKERRHEMZER
BERBZEMBRRAAKEEM
BB RRIHAER IR E BT
TEAES ZEMFEEA R

@ AEEEFAKERARIEMIZE
BEBAMEESEFEREL
BAEZEMER(FEELEM)
HAEAE

135

Bibol0z LV HEBBNEEH



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
£ 6 B 75 R R BT 5F (48)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

HE2016F12A31BILEE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 35. B ETE @

-
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The maximum number of shares in respect to which options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the
issued share capital of the Company on the date of adopting the Share
Option Scheme. The limit may be refreshed at any time provided that
the new limit must not be in aggregate exceed 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the date of the shareholders’ approval in
general meeting. However, the total number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other scheme of
the Company must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the shares in issue
from time to time. The maximum number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted to any individual in any 12-month period shall
not exceed 1% of the shares in issue on the last date of such 12-month
period unless approval of the shareholders of the Company has been
obtained in accordance with the GEM Listing Rules. A nominal
consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the grant of an
option.

Options may be exercised at any time from the date of grant of the
option to the 10th anniversary of the date of grant as may be
determined by the Directors. The exercise price is determined by the
Directors, and will not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price
per share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets on
the date of the grant of the options; (i) the average closing price per
share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of the grant of the
options; or (i) the nominal value of a share.

The refreshment of the Share Option Scheme mandate limit was
approved at the annual general meeting held on 29 April 2016, based
on 1,382,400,000 shares in issue as at 29 April 2016, the Company
was allowed to grant further options under the Share Option Scheme at
up to a total of 138,240,000 shares, representing 10% of the shares in
issue as at 29 April 2016 and representing 9.9% of the issue share
capital of the Company as at 31 December 2016 and the date of this
annual report respectively, and representing 10.0% of the issued share
capital of the Company, as at the date of 2015 annual report.

IR B AT &I AT RE R L 2 BB HE P S
EHBRHBE KRETEEBRMBER
BFEEAARFEEHITRAZ10% -
ZERABEER  ERRESRATE
BBRRRERASHEZEAARAFD
BT 210% ° 28T - 1R AR 8 B HE &
B RADREMEMFEERHER K
TREZE2EHBEREETER 7 T &7
ZBRHBEEHTEEBEREEHITR
0 230% AR+ — @ A \EA - @
EMENALREZBREETER
ATHERTZENBETAGSEBEZ T =@
AMB&E - RO BITRMDZ21%  BRIF
BRIRAIER ETRANEAARR B REL
HERIMERIGR » AR B 2 BB - &
MREBEREVET -

BRETEREEAEERHAZTA
FRIEMEANESTR MAEROES
EE -TEEKREFET EFEE
RToz&SE ()5 B £ 8B R
BREEREBMIMEBRRERLMAIZ
WTE: HEXRLBERERHNAOE
EXABRBROEBIMEREHRERL
F 5 2 Fg U (8 - (i B o m 1A o

EHERESRE ERE K216
FL4A2R BITHWBRERAF RNE L
E#E o R 20164 529A B 17
1,382,400,000 % % 12 &t 4~ 2 B & 72 &7
BIEERETSE - SREERE &
% & £ 138,240,000 % 15 K & B
2016F 4 A29H B B 1T 5 A 10% K& K
KADA D B R20165E12 8318 & &K
FWRBHPEBRTRANII%  UEARK
RAFR2015FF3H A BE FHTRAR
10.0% ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

On 9 May 2016, 29,030,400 share options were granted to two
executive Directors and an independent non-executive Director
(collectively the “Grantees”) of the Company under the share option
scheme which was adopted by the Company on 16 May 2012. The
exercise price of HK$0.365 per share was not less than the highest of (i)
the closing price of HK$0.36 per share as stated in the daily quotation
sheet issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant; (i) the
average closing price of HK$0.359 per share as stated in the daily
quotation sheet issued by the Stock Exchange for the five business
days immediately proceeding the date of grant; and (i) the nominal
value of a share. Each option gives the holder the right to subscribe for
one ordinary share of HK$0.1 each in the share capital of the Company.

The fair value of the share options granted was approximately
HK$1,826,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$0.063 each) which was
estimated by using a trinomial option pricing model, and also taking
into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were
granted.

The contractual life of each option granted is six months from 9 May
2016. The fair value of options granted during the year was estimated

by using the following assumptions:

Dividend yield (%) —

Expected volatility (%) 64.34
Risk free interest rate (%) 0.19
Expected exercise multiple 2.80

Expected volatility was determined by using the Company’s historical
share price volatility. Expected exercise multiple used in the model was
based on the management’s best estimate. The valuation has been
performed by RHL Appraisal Limited, who is independent to the Group.

On 3 August 2016, 15,382,400 share options were exercised at an
exercise price of HK$0.365 per share and 13,648,000 share options
were lapsed during the year ended 31 December 2016. There were no
outstanding share options under the Share Option Scheme as at 31
December 2016.

6 B 5 iR R BT 5E (48)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
HE2016F12A31 B ILFE

35. R ESTE @

20165 A9H » IRIEAR R FIN20124F
SA16EEMNBRETERARFTM
BHRTEER —RBBILENTEE(H
[ # % A D) % 129,030,400 B8 A% 4 -
FH0.365E THTTHEBE N EN T2
EmE ((CEREREEBEBIAH
BHNEAEBRER LMY 2 E0.36%E
TTZWWE: (W BEERLERER SR
FEEEXEAEMIAMERNTHERER
EATA 2 §R0.8359B L 2 FHWME
Rk EE - SHBRER THEEA
ERARERRARBRAP —REREE
01T TR -

P R B8 B i 2 A T B 4) 51,826,000
BT (EERESHHAE0.063BTT) - ThfE
A-EAERErERARKEZERD
B I R PRI 2 6 SR M R AR Al BT o

BNMARLBREZ SN H20165F5
HOREET/NEA - RF R H e BB E
ZNFETERATRE M :

P B (%) -

T8 HOR 18 (%) 64.34
4 2 B2 FI) 2 (%) 0.19
TERTITEBE 2.80

50 0 79 4R PR R 4 1 R O O
o MBI AEN TR RE
72 B B B (1 £ S 1 - 7 B e 0B T
R B KR T ST BB A R A A
e

R20164F8 A3 H + 15,382,400 17 i A% 1 1%
FH%0.36574 T /I 175 B 175 213,648,000
MERER2016F12A31B LFEED &
e PR2016F 12 A31 B » IR 5 B A% #E &t
Bl WAFE M ARITE 2 BB ARE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
£ 6 B 75 R R BT 5F (48)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

HE2016F12A31BILEE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 35. R ETE @
Summary details of the movement of the share options granted during HZE2016F12A31HIEFE BERER
the year ended 31 December 2016 are set out as follows: RESESHEMEFEEHINTE
Number of Share Options
BREHE
Outstanding Outstanding
Exercise and Exercise as at Granted Exercised Lapsed as at
Date of Grant validity period Priceper 1 January during during during 31 December
Name of Grantee/Category (dd/mm/yyyy) (dd/mm/yyyy) Share 2016 the year the year the year 2016
TER H2016 5 H2016 5
Rt A BYE SRERG 1810 FER FER £ER  12A31H
RBAKSR /BRI (B/R/%) (B/R/%) TEE HRTE ERH 27 BAM  ERTE
Executive Directors
HITES
Mr. Zhang Qing 09/05/2016  09/05/2016- HK$0.365 — 13,824,000 4,000,000 9,824,000 -
RELE 09/11/2016  0.365% 7T
Dr. Sung Tak Wing Leo 09/05/2016  09/05/2016- HK$0.365 — 13,824,000 10,000,000 3,824,000 -
REEEL 09/11/2016  0.365% 7T

Independent Non-executive

Director
BUEHTES
Mr. Chiu Yu Wang 09/05/2016  09/05/2016- HK$0.365 - 1,382,400 1,382,400 - -
IR RE 09/11/2016  0.365% 7T
Total — 29,030,400 15,382,400 13,648,000 -

At




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

36. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 1 May 2016, the Group acquired 55%o0f the issued share capital of
Maximus through a direct wholly-owned subsidiary. As a result, the
group’s voting equity interest in the Maximus was 55%, obtaining
control of the Maximus. Upon completion of the acquisition, Maximus
has become an indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
and the financial results of the Maximus and its subsidiaries (the “Maximus
Group”) have been consolidated into the financial statement of the
Group.

Taking control of the Maximus Group enables the Group to explore the
opportunity of developing the total solutions for information security
services and to diversify the Group’s existing business.

Since the acquisition of the Maximus Group and up to 31 December
2016, the Maximus Group contributed revenue and incurred a profit of
approximately HK$9,832,000 and HK$3,765,000 respectively to the
Group’s results.

(@) Consideration transferred

The following table summarises the acquisition-date fair value of
consideration transferred.

6 B 5 iR R BT 5E (48)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
HE2016F12A31 B ILFE

36. U &5 Ft BB 2 F

MR2016F5 18 AEEFER —HEE
2 & M B 2 7 4 B Maximus 55% B % 17
A& A o Bl it + AN 55 B 7 Maximus B 5 22 i
HE B55% & 1§ Maximus H9 4% 6l 7 o U B8
EIH T K % - Maximus X & &R A 7 — [
HEIEEENBRR " EMaximus & &
Bt B A A] ([Maximus & @ |) 2 Bf 5 ¥ 45
BERETALREB 2 HBERE

HY {5 Maximus 58 [ 2 128 1| # £ A< 5 8 15
NBEREARTRBOBERRTED
HREE WEASBEREEKZ T/ -

B Y HE Maximus & B 18 & B = 20164F 12
A31H » Maximus £ B ¥ N &£ B /) % 45
B iU 30 2 A R 7 9 Bl £99,832,000 7
7T % 3,765,000 JT ©

(@ EEBRE

TR E W R E R R
PR -

As at
acquisition date
fair value
RUBEBEHATE
HK$'000

FET

Cash b
Promissory note A EIR

10,000
17,500

27,500

The consideration was determined at HK$27,500,000 based on (i)
the historical track records of the Maximus Group for the two
years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 respectively; (i) the
business development and prospectus of the Maximus Group
and (i) the guaranteed profit of HK$10,000,000.

27,500,000 7T B K & Jh &)
Maximus 2 & 7 5| R 8] 22015 F &
2014412 A31 8 IE M @ F [ 1 F
1 48 52 8% ¢ (iMaximus 5= [ HY %
%8 R &A= &(i)10,000,0007%8
TZRBERMMEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

£ 6 B 75 R R BT 5F (48)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
HZE2016F12 A1 B ILEE

36. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(b) Acquisition-related costs

36. WEE K B 2 7 @)
(b) Uk &8 AH B R A

The Group incurred acquisition-related costs of approximately
HK$1,575,000. These costs have been included in “other
operating expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.

REEBEEAHWEMRBR AN A
1,575,000/8 7T © #% K A E 5T A 4R
AEFZEREMEZERSIRAOE A
LEFEE] -

(c) Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities (c) FruriB mI & Bl & E & A A&
assumed EaE
The following table summarises the recognised amounts of TR Bl A U BE B HA B Uk BB T A
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of MEENFIAEABNERESE -
acquisition.
As at
acquisition date
fair value
RUWEBHLATE
HK$’000
FET
Property, plant and equipment W - BE MRS 861
Deferred tax assets RIETIREE 75
Deposits and prepayments % RN FE 441
Trade receivables FEURE 5 8RR 2,057
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR RIS 2,259
Amount due to a shareholder e —RARERFIA (3,669)
Trade payables FERTE SRR (263)
Other payables and accurals H A R FEETRUE (407)
Tax payables FERTHRIR (831)
Provision i) (123)
Total identifiable net assets acquired FrUkBE nl R FE ERE 400
(d) Goodwill arising on acquisition d WBEEZEE
As at
acquisition date
fair value
R R AT E
HK$’'000
FHET
Consideration transferred EE o NE 27,500
Plus: non-controlling interests (45% in Maximus) il : JEIZEAR#EZE (Maximusiy45% ) 180
Less: total identifiable net assets acquired B AR B MR R EERE (400)
Goodwill arising on acquisition WhEEE HE 27,280

Included in the goodwill of approximately HK$27,280,000
recognised above was the benefit of diversity in business,
broadening the sources of the Group’s revenues and cash flows.

Lt B 1R A 7 2 £927,280,0008
TEEERZ TN EE BAX
EEMRARIEERRIR -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

HZE2016F12 A1 AILEE

36. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 36. U &5 Kt B 2 Bl )

) WBEBz2RRERE

141
(e) Net cash flows on acquisition

S

)

As at i

acquisition date e

. @

fair value ot

Uk B A TE S

al

HK$'000 o

gt — =4

FHET E

Consideration paid in cash and promissory note 2SI &8 kA K Ei#E 27,500 -
Plus: cash and cash equivalent balances acquired i : WHEIR & MR & ZEBWESeH (2,259)

Total A&t 25,241

37. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 37. REHERKIE
AEBRBESEHELHBEAEHEE T
NE-JBAEZHEBRTEE2EIF - N
EHR BRETIRBELCLEHESAEN
HEWEHEREBREBRSROT

The Group leased certain of its offices under operating lease
arrangements. Leases for office were negotiated for terms ranging from
2 to 3 years. At the end of the reporting period, the total future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating lease in
respect of leased properties are payable as follows:

2016 2015

2016 £ 20154

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FER FAET

Within one year —FR 2,887 1,452
After one year but within five years —FBERFA 2,783 852
5,670 2,304

REBENKREIZHAKEREURE
BORAEEMLRERNNES B
ENFOBREHENEHEE - EHE
HETEERHAESE -

Operating lease payments mainly represent rentals payable by the
Group for its office premises and a warehouse in Hong Kong. Lease
payments are fixed throughout the lease term agreed. None of the
leased includes contingent rentals.

38. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 38. EAREE

AEBR2016F12 A31HIL BT R EKXR
B A FEHE (20154 « &) -

The Group did not have any material capital commitments as at 31
December 2016 (2015: nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
£ 6 B 75 R R BT 5F (48)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

HZE2016F12 A1 B ILEE

39. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

(@) Key management personnel remuneration (a)

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group,
including amounts paid to the Company’s directors as disclosed
in note 13(a) and certain of the highest paid employees as
disclosed in note 13(b), is as follows:

39. MEALIRE

FTEEEAENHMH

AEBMEIEEBABNMNE  BF
WK 13T B D I FARQA]
BEEMNSERE XK E13(0)
FEENETEaFEENS
RN

2016 2015
2016 £F 20154
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET

Salary and other short term FekHMEHEERT
employee benefits 5,395 4,413
Post-employment benefits B B 1 83 83
Equity-settled share-based payments PS8 45 BN ST R 881 -
6,359 4,496

(b) Loans to related parties b) BEFTEEFNER

The following tables disclose the loan interest income and loans
advanced to related parties for the year ended 31 December
2016 and 2015:

TR EEH E20164F N 2015F 12
ABIBILEEERA B WA NTE
NrRgrER:

2016 2015
2016 £ 20154F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FET
Loan interest income from: ETHEFHEZRFE
N
— Key management personnel —TEZEEEBAEB - 644
— A substantial shareholder ——BETEBRE - 1,085
Loans advanced to: BT TS HFHER:
— Key management personnel —XTZEEBAER - 10,000
— A substantial shareholder ——HEERRE - 8,700

During the year ended 31 December 2015, loans advanced to
related parties are repayable according to repayment schedules,
with contractual maturity within 6 months and bear annual
interest rates ranging from 12% to 24%. All loans repayments
from related parties were received. They were neither past due
nor impaired.

H ZE20156F12A31H L FE - &
NFRERNEFREERERM
REER AHFNEBEREARE
B WD T 12% B 24% 0 F B &
AR -BWHBBEEFMAEENE
oo HgEfmEE Hi sk R (E -
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39. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued)

40

41

42

(c) Related party balance

Details of the Group’s outstanding balances with related parties
are set out in note 28 and 29.

(d) Applicability of the GEM Listing Rules
relating to connected transactions

None of above related party transactions falls under the definition
of connected transaction or continuing connected transaction as
defined in Chapter 20 of GEM Listing Rules.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2016.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 22 December 2016 and 6 January 2017, the Company as the
purchaser, Standard Apex Limited as the vendor and Ms. Xie Jihong as
the guarantor, being independent third parties of the Group, entered
into a memorandum of understanding and a sale and purchase
agreement (“Sale and Purchase Agreement”), in relation to the
proposed acquisition, the entire issued share capital of Quick Wit at a
consideration of HK$140 million. The Quick Wit Group is principally
engaged in provision of investment and planning consulting service,
real estate agent, property management services and car parking
management services in the PRC. All of the conditions precedent under
the Sale and Purchase Agreement have been fulfiled and the
completion took place on 20 January 2017 in accordance with the
terms and conditions of the Sale and Purchase Agreement. Upon
completion of the acquisition, Quick Wit Ventures Limited has become
a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and the financial
results of the Quick Wit Group have been consolidated into the financial
statement of the Group.

Details of the acquisition were disclosed in the Company’s
announcements dated 22 December 2016, 6 and 20 January 2017
respectively.

AUTHORISATION OF ISSUE OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the Board of Directors on 24 March 2017.

39.

40.

41.

42.

6 B 5 iR R BT 5E (48)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
HE2016F12A31 B ILFE

BEATHE@®

(c) BAER &ER

ERASBEBET ZRERS
B BENME28 K29

fI% 45 E R B BER
5 6038 A

BIBRIZER EHARRE20E - i\
FREAEFRGTEHEII K
FEBERINTEE -

(d)

HREE

R2016F 128310 AEE T EIME
R ARBEE -

BREHRRER

R2016F 12 A22 H % 201741 H6H + &
2~ al({E A& B 75 ) » Standard Apex Limited
(EARER) R#BEA LT (EAERAR
BAREB 2B E =) 5] MR R B
LEEHZ(EEHZE]) NEEHAE
U B Quick Wit 7 28 B BT A - R
EA140EEHE T Qick WtEBEEER
PEMERERERFEIBBERE B
WELK MEETERERIEESERE
R - BEWHmIE T 2 280k R E 1
HEN TERBEBEHE ZBKA KK
201791 208 52 AL > A UK BB =5 18
52K %+ Quick Wit Ventures Limited & fX 4
ARr—HEZZ2EKE 27T HQuick
Wit B 2 B £ BEERAFTAREE 2
M

WEEB2HBEDNEERARAZ
NE HE A20165F12 228 ~ 20174
1H6H K208 °

RETIZASMBRE

ZEEFETN2017FE3A24 B L W IR #E
TR A B RE -
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SUMMARY OF FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL INFORMATION

T & 81 85 & il 2

The following is a summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group A T A EE RS EXMERR REBE

for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited
financial statements and restated/reclassified as appropriate:

ZEE BERAGBHE:

B/ EHBRZAEEBERAYRFE

RESULTS E 4
Year ended 31 December
HZE12A31BLEE
2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
20164 20154 20144 20134 20124
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FHET FAT FAET
Revenue & 60,752 29,244 52,136 42,769 31,281
Profit/(loss) for the year FERF,(EE) 10,592 (8,858) (7,690) (6,090) (17,354)
Earnings/(loss) per share AN, (BE)
(HK cents) (B 0.64 (1.87) (2.25) 2.11) 6.51)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEKREE
As at 31 December
M12A31H
2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
20165 20154 20144 20134 20124
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET FET
Total assets BB E 313,143 286,762 79,125 69,340 64,090
Total liabilities BEE 11,208 2,161 4,048 5,217 3,612
Net assets EEFE 301,935 284,601 75,077 64,123 60,478
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